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          2                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Good

          3  afternoon. Today the Consumer Affairs Committee will

          4  hear testimony regarding proposed Intro. 468-A. This

          5  hearing is continued from October 29th, 1999, which

          6  you will all recall was the day we celebrated here

          7  at City Hall the New York Yankees World Series

          8  victory.

          9                 This bill proposes to transfer the

         10  licensing of retail cigarette sellers from the

         11  Department of Finance to the Department of Consumer

         12  Affairs and to stiffen the penalties for illegal

         13  cigarette sales.

         14                 A City Council survey taken just last

         15  month showed that 56 percent of businesses in the

         16  City continued to sell cigarettes to minors.

         17                 We need to change this. This bill

         18  will send a clear message to those retailers. You

         19  have a choice, abide by the cigarette sales laws,

         20  stop selling cigarettes to minors, or you won't be

         21  selling cigarettes at all.

         22                 Let me point out, however, that this

         23  bill is quite different than the initial version we

         24  heard in February. Since February we have spent

         25  considerable time sitting down with small
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          2  businesses, listening to their concerns, and

          3  thinking about how we could make this bill fairer

          4  without letting up in our resolve to end the sale of

          5  cigarettes to minors.

          6                 Some of what those businesses asked

          7  for would have completely undermine our efforts to

          8  stiffen the penalties for illegal sales, even

          9  weakened the existing law.

         10                 We will never do that. But we have

         11  revised this bill and made it fairer. First, we have

         12  eliminated the provision in the original bill that

         13  will have given DCA powers wholly unrelated to the

         14  sale of cigarettes.

         15                 Second, we have given businesses the

         16  chance to assert an affirmative defense against

         17  revocation out to two strikes where they are able to

         18  show that they took certain reasonable measures to

         19  prevent the sale of cigarettes to minors. And we

         20  have worked hard to ensure that small, as well as

         21  large businesses, can meet the training and

         22  monitoring requirements of the affirmative defense.

         23                 Let me note that Council Member

         24  Watkins and Public Advocate Mark Green have

         25  requested after printing to be entered as prime
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          2  sponsors of the bill.

          3                 We have quite a few witnesses today,

          4  so I ask you to be brief and direct in addressing

          5  the provisions of the bill.

          6                 And with that, I would like to start

          7  off with the Commissioner, Commissioner Polonetsky

          8  from the Department of Consumer Affairs.

          9                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Good

         10  afternoon, Chairwoman Koslowitz, and members of the

         11  Committee. I am joined today by some of the DCA

         12  staff. Sitting with me to the left is Mike Haberman,

         13  our Director of Government Affairs.

         14                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         15  testify on Intro. 468-A, the bill that would require

         16  retailers who sell tobacco in the City to obtain a

         17  license from the Department of Consumer Affairs, and

         18  would strengthen the penalties for merchants who do

         19  sell tobacco to minors.

         20                 Since I became Consumer Affairs

         21  Commissioner back in January of '98, I have been

         22  before you in the Committee about 15 times to

         23  discuss a wide range of topics. We have talked about

         24  everything from our budget, to the dangers of laser

         25  pointers and the dangers of realistic-looking toy
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          2  guns.

          3                 I truly believe that this, without a

          4  doubt, is one of the most important issues we have

          5  discussed yet. The bottom line is that too many of

          6  New York City's children are smoking because it is

          7  just too easy for children in this City to get

          8  cigarettes.

          9                 Every day when 6,000 young Americans

         10  try a cigarette, and approximately 3,000 of those

         11  youth become daily smokers, in '98 more than 36

         12  percent of America's high school students admitted

         13  to smoking cigarettes. That is tragically an

         14  increase of 33 percent, since 1991. These are just

         15  unacceptable statistics. The time to act is now. We

         16  cannot wait any longer. Intro. 468-A must become

         17  law.

         18                 I will briefly review some of the

         19  main provisions, since we previously held a hearing

         20  about some of the general issues and we have

         21  discussed for quite some time now some of the

         22  changes that you and the members of the Council

         23  raised.

         24                 The bill creates a DCA license to

         25  replace the former finance tobacco dealer license

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            8

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  which retailers are currently obligated to obtain if

          3  they want to sell cigarettes. Fines go up from $300

          4  to $1,000 for a first offense, and from $500 to

          5  $2,000 for any subsequent violation.

          6                 A new dealer license would be revoked

          7  after two violations within two years. Currently the

          8  Department of Finance license gets revoked or

          9  suspended practically after three violations within

         10  two years.

         11                 And finally, the bill allows DCA to

         12  reject the license application for a location where

         13  a license has been revoked within the past two

         14  years, if the new applicant has a financial or a

         15  personal relationship with the business whose

         16  license has been revoked.

         17                 As you know, we, over the past two

         18  years, have been very aggressive in enforcing the

         19  existing laws regulating the sale of tobacco to

         20  minors.

         21                 We have conducted almost 13,000

         22  inspections in every neighborhood, in every borough

         23  of the City. We have issued 4,400 violations to

         24  merchants, ranging from the owner of a corner store,

         25  attendants at gas stations, cashiers at major drug
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          2  stores, as well as supermarket chains. I am proud to

          3  say these intensive anti-tobacco sale to minor

          4  efforts have indeed paid off. When we first began

          5  our inspections back in April of 1998 -- and of

          6  course, I will digress for a second, the Department

          7  has of course worked on this issue for a number of

          8  years, but what we began was what I think was the

          9  country's largest effort targeting the 15,000

         10  licensed locations in this city.

         11                 When we first began back in April, 52

         12  percent of the stores we visited, illegally sold

         13  cigarettes to our undercover minor inspectors.

         14                 By September of '98, after several

         15  months of intensive inspections and enforcement and

         16  violations, we knocked that rate down to about 17

         17  percent. Overall, however, 35 percent of merchants

         18  this year and last year, when we look at the figures

         19  together, have sold to our kids.

         20                 In the second phase of that

         21  enforcement, we have not been able to get that rate

         22  below 35 percent. There are months when it has

         23  fluctuated a little higher, a little lower, but the

         24  overall average month after month is approximately

         25  35 percent.
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          2                 It's a great success in knocking down

          3  the rate from 52 percent to 35 percent, but

          4  tragically, in this day and age, seeing one out of

          5  three merchants continuing to sell to our minors is

          6  unacceptable.

          7                 This year, almost 1,700 of the 4,500

          8  merchants that we visited between February and

          9  September of this Year, sold to minors despite our

         10  enforcement.

         11                 When we revisited merchants who had

         12  already been issued one violation from illegal

         13  sales, 25 percent, one in four sold again. So,

         14  again, the enforcement works. A merchant who has

         15  been hit once is less likely, only one in four this

         16  time sold, but, again, one in four is an

         17  unacceptable statistic.

         18                 When we went back to some of those

         19  merchants a third time, roughly the same amount sold

         20  to us once again.

         21                 Now, our enforcement efforts are

         22  extensive.  I believe that our program is the

         23  largest in the country. But we cannot be in every

         24  single store at every minute in the day. If we have

         25  issued 4,500 violations in two years, and if 25

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            11

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  percent of those who are issued violations are

          3  selling a second and a third time, imagine how many

          4  illegal purchases are being made every day that we

          5  are not seeing. Imagine how many children are buying

          6  a pack of cigarettes right now as we sit here, how

          7  many children are starting down the road to a

          8  lifetime of smoking and the health problems that go

          9  along with it.

         10                 I have been closely monitoring our

         11  enforcement project for the past two years, and I

         12  believe I know why some merchants continue to flout

         13  the law, the penalties simply are not adequate.

         14                 Some merchants unfortunately are more

         15  concerned about profits than about the health of our

         16  children. The amount of money that some of these

         17  merchants can make by selling cigarettes to minors

         18  far outweighs the amount that some end up paying in

         19  fines. That must change. The penalties for selling

         20  cigarettes to children must change. The fines must

         21  be increased, the number of violations needed for

         22  revocation must be reduced, and those whose licenses

         23  are revoked must not be able to use the loopholes to

         24  gain another license. When I talk about loopholes, I

         25  raise what I think is the most important and perhaps
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          2  innovative part of this entire bill. It is a

          3  provision that would help us put an end to what we

          4  call flipping.

          5                 Often when a consumer affairs license

          6  is revoked, the owners simply close up their current

          7  corporation, file the paperwork to open up a new

          8  corporation, and then file for a new license. Or

          9  they legally sell the business to a relative,

         10  brother, a mother, an aunt, a cousin, who then

         11  simply applies for a new license in their new name.

         12  The sale is really a sham, and the original licensee

         13  retains true ownership of the business. That is what

         14  we call flipping.

         15                 Unfortunately, this is a widespread

         16  practice when it comes to tobacco retailers.

         17                 Of the Department of Finance, tobacco

         18  licenses that have been suspended since 1996, 62

         19  percent have changed ownership. Eleven percent went

         20  out of business. Seventy-three percent of the

         21  merchants who had their license suspended have

         22  avoided the suspension one way or another.

         23                 We have the chance today to stop

         24  flipping when it comes to tobacco licenses. We have

         25  the opportunity to demonstrate that the City take
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          2  this issue seriously and when a license is suspended

          3  because somebody has repeatedly sold cigarettes to a

          4  minor, that individual will not be able to continue

          5  selling tobacco to a kid.

          6                 Intro. 468 changes the law so that if

          7  a licensee receives a violation and the business is

          8  then sold, the violation remains on the record of

          9  the new owner, unless the new owner proves that the

         10  sale was a bonafide arm's length transaction.

         11                 In addition, if the license is

         12  actually revoked, and then the business is sold, the

         13  new owner will not be able to get a new tobacco

         14  license for two years unless they demonstrate that

         15  they do not have a relationship with the previous

         16  owner.

         17                 This is a new tactic the Department

         18  has not been able to use before, and which I believe

         19  will make a tremendous difference.

         20                 I know there has been some concern

         21  about this particular provision and how it would

         22  affect small business owners. I appreciate that

         23  concern. I must remind you, however, this provision

         24  only affects businesses that have repeatedly broken

         25  the law by selling cigarettes to kids over and over.
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          2  Their license has been revoked not only because they

          3  have been caught selling cigarettes on two separate

          4  occasions, but in addition because they have been

          5  unable to demonstrate at the license revocation

          6  hearing that they have taken any substantial action

          7  to prevent or deter their employees from selling to

          8  kids.

          9                 There is no doubt this piece of

         10  legislation is a strong measure, but it targets only

         11  merchants who risk our children's health by

         12  illegally selling tobacco to minors. It has adequate

         13  provision to ensure that the law-abiding retailers

         14  who make a simple mistake do not suffer lingering

         15  repercussions.

         16                 This bill was first introduced in

         17  November of last year, and our first hearing before

         18  this Committee was back in February. We absolutely

         19  cannot wait another year. The time to act is now.

         20                 I urge the Council to review Intro.

         21  468-A thoroughly but quickly, and to set it for a

         22  vote as soon as possible. Our children's health

         23  depends upon it.

         24                 I thank you, as always, for the

         25  opportunity to testify, and I am happy to answer any
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          2  questions that the members of the Committee may

          3  have.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Thank you very

          5  much. But before I do that, I would like to

          6  introduce the Committee. We have Council Member

          7  Archie Spigner, Council Member John Sabini, Council

          8  Member Stephen Fiala, and Council Member Lasher.

          9                 I would like to ask you a few

         10  questions.

         11                 Addressing the sale of cigarette

         12  sales to minors, inasmuch a question of education

         13  and awareness as it is one of strong penalty, would

         14  DCA support a program to educate businesses and

         15  their personnel on establishing and carrying out a

         16  policy to adhere to the requirements of the law?

         17                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Of course.

         18  And the Department of Health is in the process today

         19  with a share of the funding that they received and

         20  have budgeted from the tobacco settlement for such

         21  purpose.

         22                 In addition, as the licensee, we will

         23  now have a very direct opportunity to, as each

         24  license is issued, make it very clear to the

         25  licensees what their responsibilities are, to make
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          2  it very clear and to assist in educating them and

          3  their staff on what will be expected of them.

          4                 We will be seeing all of them, we

          5  hope, at our Citywide licensing center, and we will

          6  certainly be making it our business not only to have

          7  the materials available, but to be working very

          8  closely with the Department of Health, which plans

          9  to reach out very broadly.

         10                 In addition, we had a program both

         11  this and last summer where we visited stores. In

         12  fact, in many areas before we went out and did

         13  enforcement, and, again, our goal is not to catch or

         14  trip up merchants, we don't want to see sales. When

         15  we talk to the minors who go out, we let them know

         16  they are not there to entrap anybody. They are not

         17  there to fool anybody. They go in. If they are asked

         18  for ID they say I don't have any. If they are asked

         19  how old are you they say I am 14, I am 15.

         20                 What we did in many neighborhoods is

         21  we had our minors visit the stores in advance

         22  warning merchants the Department of Consumer Affairs

         23  will be doing enforcement. It is against the law.

         24  Here is a sample sign. Here is what the law is, do

         25  you have any questions? And we intend to do that in
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          2  a very aggressive way.

          3                 I would like to be able to come back

          4  here in another year and tell you that the rate of

          5  compliance is up and that we are down to one

          6  percent, two percent, three percent of stores

          7  selling, instead of unfortunately sitting before you

          8  here today and pointing to more than a million

          9  dollars in fines issued, pointing to thousands and

         10  thousands of violations, sadly reporting that we

         11  still end up catching one out of every three

         12  merchants.

         13                 So, yes, we will eagerly work with

         14  both you and the appropriate merchants groups, and

         15  the Department of Health to make sure there is no

         16  mystery. Frankly, I think education is one piece,

         17  but enforcement is an equally important piece. If in

         18  today's day and age there are New Yorkers, no matter

         19  what background or what language issue, that are

         20  unaware that it is illegal to sell cigarettes to a

         21  minor, I don't know how much more of a difference

         22  education will make.

         23                 So, we are going to do it, because

         24  there are clearly people to be educated and clearly

         25  opinions to change, but I think that the important
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          2  part of the legislation today is educating merchants

          3  that there is a price to pay if you sell cigarettes

          4  to a minor.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Would you

          6  agree in fact that it may be substantially more

          7  difficult to small businesses, including newsstands

          8  versus large retailers, to monitor and train

          9  employees as the bill requires? And what would you

         10  propose for small businesses to this end, if not

         11  some kind of education program?

         12                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: I think in

         13  some way small businesses have an easier time when

         14  it comes to being very aware of what goes on at

         15  their premises.

         16                 I can see sometimes the difficulties

         17  faced by a large chain that makes a very clear

         18  corporate decision, but has a difficult time

         19  communicating it down the ranks, or a large store

         20  with many, many registers and a manager with a great

         21  deal of personnel turnover. At sometimes a newsstand

         22  owner who is indeed the person responsible, or has

         23  one or two other people who work there, may have a

         24  more direct hands-on awareness and control over what

         25  happens on these premises than a larger store. So, I
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          2  think it cuts both ways. The education is one that

          3  is going to need to be an effective program for

          4  merchants large and small.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Would you be

          6  willing to conduct training for this immigrant

          7  population before the law becomes effective?

          8                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: The law

          9  hopefully becomes effective six months from the date

         10  the legislation is passed. The Department of Health

         11  is working right now in putting together outreach

         12  and training programs. We will not issue a license

         13  without material that makes it very clear to a

         14  merchant what their responsibilities are, so we

         15  certainly have no problem with bolstering our

         16  efforts to make it very clear to merchants what the

         17  new law is and what the responsibilities are.

         18                 And, frankly, to tell you the truth,

         19  people who make these sales are completing criminal

         20  violations, and I think that what we are doing at

         21  DCA is the minimum that those merchants ought to be

         22  aware of, because some of them face in theory much

         23  more severe penalties, and so certainly we would be

         24  very happy to work on education.

         25                 The new Subdivision F of Section
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          2  17-624 provides that a commissioner may wave

          3  mandatory revocation where the licensee has taken

          4  significant disciplinary action other than

          5  termination of the employee against the person who

          6  committed the violation. What actions would be

          7  acceptable to meet this requirement for a waiver?

          8                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Different

          9  matters that one might present to a DCA

         10  Administrative Law Judge could include terminating

         11  an employee, could include another appropriate

         12  sanction that an employer might speak against an

         13  employee and those could range from docking them

         14  pay, could range from vacation pay, could range from

         15  any of the main disciplinary mechanisms that an

         16  employer might impose on an employee who violates

         17  the law.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: What would

         19  happen if a large chain store with union employees

         20  attempted to take disciplinary action but was

         21  prevented from doing so by a collective bargaining

         22  agreement or by a grievance proceeding?

         23                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Any

         24  collective bargaining agreement that says that an

         25  employer can't take any action against an employee
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          2  that violates the law would be one that I think we

          3  would all find somewhat strange.

          4                 Certainly any collective bargaining

          5  agreement is going to leave room for appropriate

          6  discipline lest an employer not have any ability to

          7  require that an employee not violate or commit

          8  criminal acts. And so we would recognize obviously

          9  the parameters that an employer would have to live

         10  by, and we would look to see that there was an

         11  appropriate measure of discipline such that it sent

         12  a message to the employee and to other employees

         13  that there was a risk faced, a substantial risk

         14  faced if one violated the law.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Many of the

         16  small businesses feel that when they go down for

         17  their hearings, they are not treated fairly. That,

         18  you know, there is a lack of understanding, you

         19  know, the due process. How can we change this?

         20                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: I don't have

         21  a great deal of sympathy for a merchant who has sold

         22  cigarettes to a minor, who has filled out an

         23  affidavit. We have got a receipt, we have got a pack

         24  of cigarettes indicating when and where it was

         25  purchased. We have our inspector who is there, and
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          2  their testimony that they made the purchase. And so

          3  I agree, we have open and shut cases in most of our

          4  tobacco hearings.

          5                 I think in some of our other licensed

          6  violations there might be a broader opportunity for

          7  a licensee to come in and present a full fledged

          8  case and argue several different points of view.

          9                 We have worked very carefully to make

         10  sure that these violations are issued very carefully

         11  with affidavits, with each pack of cigarettes

         12  notarized, documented, so I do think that we have

         13  had a very high conviction rate because of how

         14  carefully we are going about doing these violations.

         15  And so I can sympathize with those who lose the

         16  cases. I don't have a great deal of sympathy because

         17  I am fairly confident that our judges certainly

         18  follow due process. We do not win every case. When

         19  somebody is able to demonstrate that the paperwork

         20  is out of order, information isn't adequately

         21  documented, our judges dismiss in this area and in

         22  other areas. Our judges are independent. I don't

         23  discuss their decisions with them, and I am

         24  confident that our administrative law process at DCA

         25  and other city agencies has been a successful one.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Is it possible

          3  for us to get the numbers of the small businesses

          4  that come before you and how many cases are won and

          5  how many cases are lose; is that possible?

          6                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Certainly

          7  for tobacco that would be easy to provide, because

          8  we have been obligated to pass on that sort of

          9  information to the federal government, the state

         10  government, and that is easy to provide. Certainly.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Okay.

         12                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: And I will

         13  tell you that it is certainly going to be a fairly

         14  high rate because we do these inspections since we

         15  are working with a minor, we use great care. We use

         16  more inspectors per inspection than we might.  Many

         17  of our other DCA inspections are done with an

         18  individual, here we have got a minor, we have got an

         19  inspector, we also have a team accompany them. We

         20  have a youth director who supervises the program. We

         21  have got supervising inspectors. We know that when

         22  we are, number one, doing something to which we give

         23  great priority, and, number two, when we are working

         24  with minors, these are violations that we need to

         25  treat very seriously.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: What would you

          3  constitute significant disciplinary action, when the

          4  person who has violated the law is a family member

          5  of the licensee?

          6                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: I think I

          7  would leave that to one of our administrative law

          8  judges. They need to demonstrate that the employer

          9  sent a serious message that had impact on the

         10  employee, such as to deter them from taking that

         11  sort of action again.

         12                 Obviously we don't expect somebody to

         13  give their child up for adoption, but at the same

         14  time a parent shouldn't avoid the responsibility for

         15  what they or their child does. So, certainly there

         16  is going to be an impact, if your kid sells

         17  cigarettes to other kids, your kid shouldn't be

         18  selling cigarettes in the first place, number one.

         19  But number two, if your adult child, who you feel

         20  obligated to employ no matter what continues to sell

         21  cigarettes to a minor there will be a negative

         22  impact on your store and you would be responsible

         23  for those actions, so it certainly could be harder.

         24                 However, I do point out that today if

         25  you sell three times, the current law doesn't allow
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          2  you any kind of protest or any kind of mitigation

          3  and so I think by opening the door to allowing some

          4  degree of I did everything I could in my store,

          5  don't take away my license after two times, we

          6  certainly allowed businesses an opportunity to, if

          7  they have made a minor mistake, to correct their

          8  actions. But our goal is not to open the door wide

          9  to allow repeated sales, whatever the reason. We

         10  understand there are times when somebody may not be

         11  happy that they are being issued a violation for

         12  what happened at their store and they personally

         13  might not have made such a sale. In reality,

         14  however, the store has committed the violation.

         15  Under current law, if you commit such a violation

         16  three times in two years, you have no opportunity to

         17  offer any defense whatsoever, and so I think we have

         18  gone a long way towards giving stores as much due

         19  process as possible by allowing this level of

         20  defense.

         21                 I think if we start dealing with the

         22  issue of, well, how can I punish my kid, it is my

         23  kid, therefore don't hold me responsible, we would

         24  be opening up a huge hole and we would have people

         25  coming up and saying, well, he is not my kid, but he
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          2  is my friend or he is my cousin or he needs the job,

          3  so please don't hold me responsible for the

          4  cigarettes that were sold to kids at my store.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: In your sting

          6  operation, has DCA purposely used teenagers who look

          7  older than 18 years old?

          8                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: We use kids

          9  who are 14 or 15 or 16. We tell the kids that their

         10  job is not to go in and try to catch a merchant, to

         11  try to act older, not one of the children certainly

         12  appears over 25, and as you know, the law requires

         13  that a merchant request ID if the individual appears

         14  under 25. So, certainly I don't think any of our

         15  teens, by any measure, appear to be over 25. They

         16  all certainly were under 18 and every one of them

         17  that was sold cigarettes was sold without having

         18  anyone even ask their age, or without having anybody

         19  request the courtesy of ID.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: They are not

         21  dressed to look older or --

         22                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: We don't

         23  tell the kids how to dress. They show up in whatever

         24  the clothing they use for school or after school. We

         25  don't disguise them with fake beards and mustaches.
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          2  They are ordinary kids who we recruit from youth

          3  programs around the City, volunteers, high school

          4  programs, and they are very clearly told their job

          5  isn't to catch the merchant. The great success of

          6  our program will be when we announce how few

          7  merchants sold. Our goal here isn't the revenue, our

          8  goal here isn't the number of violations. I come

          9  before you today, and I don't argue and say look how

         10  many violations we issued. I say to you, look how

         11  sad it is that that large number of merchants sold.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: I have one

         13  more question and then I want to turn it over to my

         14  colleagues.

         15                 Store owners have expressed concerns

         16  that the bill could require them to impose a penalty

         17  on a worker such as suspension, that they may not be

         18  able to do on their own under the terms of a

         19  collective bargaining agreement.

         20                 Would it be sufficient that a store

         21  owner attempted to impose a stiff sanction if an

         22  arbitrator or a grievance committee softened the

         23  punishment?

         24                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Our goal

         25  would be to see that the merchant had a process in
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          2  place where they clearly sent the message to

          3  employees that selling cigarettes to minors would

          4  have repercussions, and in those cases our ALJs will

          5  allow the merchant to continue to do business under

          6  their license. Our goal isn't going to be to take a

          7  look at how the employee finally felt or how they

          8  didn't feel. We understand that in the day-to-day

          9  world employers need to make decisions and may not

         10  be able to take every action.

         11                 Our goal will be to take a look at

         12  the overall program, do they have a program in

         13  place, have they sought disciplinary action in a

         14  serious manner? And in those cases, and in those

         15  cases only allow the merchant to continue doing

         16  business. So, the answer is, yes, an ALJ will look,

         17  and I think as the way the paragraph describes, the

         18  intent is fairly clear. The point will be to

         19  demonstrate that with a program in place you have an

         20  opportunity to point out to a judge that you have

         21  done everything in your power to prevent this from

         22  happening again.

         23                 Should it happen again I point out?

         24  And there is a third strike, one is responsible --

         25  as it stands today, store owners are responsible for
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          2  their employee's action. I mean if our inspectors go

          3  into a store and an employee sells a box-cutter to a

          4  minor, sells spray paint, there is no opportunity

          5  for the store owner to come in and say I didn't do

          6  it, my employee did it.

          7                 Obviously the logic of allowing the

          8  person who operates the store off the hook by

          9  pointing their finger or blame at his employees

         10  would dissolve the point of any of our enforcement.

         11                 We overall hold employers responsible

         12  for what happens at their store, and I think that

         13  the general intention is to do no differently here.

         14                 However, to recognize the fact that

         15  there are employers who indeed may do everything

         16  possible in their power to send such a message, and

         17  see an employee doing so, we in this legislation

         18  give the employer the opportunity to make that case

         19  before an administrative law judge.

         20                 I also would like to point out while

         21  I am here one of the other items that we have been

         22  fairly concerned about recently and have been

         23  monitoring in many places in the country, the

         24  federal authorities have seen a rise in the sale of

         25  bidis, which are these cigarettes manufactured in
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          2  India which have evidently become popular in many

          3  cities, and particularly popular with minors.

          4                 These are a bit more potent. They are

          5  really more accurately small, hand-rolled cigars

          6  than they are cigarettes, but they appear to go like

          7  a version of cigarettes, they are not that

          8  expensive, and we currently are being very carefully

          9  to determine whether or not these are being sold in

         10  any significant way in New York. We haven't seen it

         11  in any significant way yet. We haven't been able to

         12  purchase them, we haven't been able to purchase them

         13  in particular neighborhoods. We haven't seen yet

         14  what is happening right now in a number of other

         15  cities where these are becoming almost a favored

         16  item of choice for young people to purchase them

         17  twice.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: What is the

         19  name of them?

         20                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: They are

         21  called bidis.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: B-e-e-d --

         23                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: B-i-d-i-s,

         24  bidis. And they are made in India and evidently

         25  becoming very popular across the country, and we are
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          2  very carefully taking a look at stores around the

          3  city now to ensure they are not catching on as a

          4  cigarette of choice for our young people.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Thank you.

          6                 Council Member Fiala.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: Thank you,

          8  Madam Chair. Just an observation. I am proud to be a

          9  co-sponsor of the original bill, and I think this

         10  amended version, which was a collaborative effort

         11  between the Administration and the Council is a good

         12  piece of legislation. And I join the Commissioner in

         13  urging that we take this up sooner rather than

         14  later.

         15                 I want to congratulate the Council's

         16  Investigation for doing its report, which I think

         17  only confirms what the Commissioner has said, that

         18  is that we continue to have a serious problem in

         19  this City, indeed we have it in this nation, with

         20  3,000 youngsters on a daily basis becoming addicted.

         21  See, that is the crux of the matter. The issue is

         22  what is the consequences in an illegal sale. It is

         23  not a dollar collected by a merchant alone, it is

         24  the beginning of an addictive process that will

         25  plague society throughout that youngster's life. The
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          2  cost are both human and financial, to the individual

          3  and to the collective society.

          4                 I want to say this, because I am

          5  supposed to be in Brooklyn at 3:30 but I didn't want

          6  to miss the opportunity to comment to those who are

          7  opposed to this bill.

          8                 It is ridiculous to expect any

          9  legislative body to enact legislation of an

         10  enforcement nature that doesn't have in it a

         11  component that makes the enforcement. The

         12  enforcement is about preventing. We are not out for

         13  retribution. The goal here is to prevent before

         14  something happens, and the only way you do that with

         15  human beings is you make the choice easy for them.

         16  The punishment of being caught must outweigh the

         17  dollar that could be collected, and I submit and I

         18  end here by saying, if you have been caught twice,

         19  you can bet you have been doing it dozens, if not

         20  hundreds of times. You know what you are doing. You

         21  have a moral obligation that goes beyond yourself,

         22  beyond your own pocketbook. If you have just an

         23  inkling of a suspicion that an individual is of

         24  minor age, all you need do is ask for proof of

         25  identity. If that individual doesn't have it, the
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          2  choice is conduct a potentially illegal sale, or

          3  give up the buck. You know what? It is about time we

          4  start telling people you are going to be held

          5  accountable if you don't give up the buck when you

          6  are in a position to save that youngster from a life

          7  of addiction.

          8                 This is a good piece of legislation,

          9  Madam Chair, and I urge that we vote on it as soon

         10  as possible.

         11                 Thank you. And thank you,

         12  Commissioner.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Thank you.

         14                 Council Member Lasher.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LASHER: Jules, it is a

         16  pleasure to see you again. This, what you were

         17  speaking about now is very, very important, and I

         18  firmly believe that cigarettes become addictive to

         19  all children, even -- I mean, not only children but

         20  just one of the whole gamut of all of the aged

         21  categories and you will find that each one has

         22  probably some minor part or major part within the

         23  sale of tobacco products, and I think that you

         24  should keep going with what you are doing. I think

         25  hopefully in the end people will realize how
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          2  dangerous tobacco smoking is under every

          3  circumstance, and hopefully that at some point we

          4  will be able to eradicate it completely. Although we

          5  will probably never have the ability to do it, it is

          6  probably a goal that should be sought all the time,

          7  and hopefully people will start to get some smarts

          8  as to what is happening to their lungs and what is

          9  happening to their whole anatomy by smoking, and I

         10  commend you on what you are doing and I hope that

         11  you keep the enforcement up and keep the heat up,

         12  and hopefully exact those penalties that are

         13  necessary to make it a thing of the past and not a

         14  thing of the future.

         15                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Thank you,

         16  Council Member Lasher. And I hope you will join

         17  Councilman Fiala and us in urging the Chair and the

         18  Speaker to allow us to turn up the heat by

         19  increasing the penalties as we propose in the

         20  legislation here.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Council Member

         23  Robinson.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBINSON: Thank you,

         25  Chairperson Koslowitz. I would just like to echo my
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          2  collective voice for the support of this legislation

          3  and also to say that I certainly believe,

          4  Commissioner Polonetsky, that when there are

          5  violations, that there should be swift action

          6  against those who commit the violations against our

          7  children. I am sure that we recognize that every day

          8  we read about our children who are at risk, and so

          9  not only are they at risk socially, emotionally, but

         10  also health-wise, when they continue to have the

         11  opportunity to go into stores and purchase

         12  cigarettes.

         13                 So, certainly I want to join as a

         14  sponsor of this legislation, Council Member

         15  Koslowitz, and also ask of you, Commissioner, are

         16  the young people who do the investigation, are they

         17  compensated?

         18                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Yes. We

         19  began the program initially when we did a small

         20  number of violations in past years with a handful of

         21  volunteers. We would do it on weekends, but when we

         22  went to the phase where we actually were going out

         23  seven days a week, weekends and summers, winters, it

         24  became clear that if we were going to have kids

         25  working eight hours a day, we needed to do more than
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          2  rely on a pool of volunteers. So, the teens who work

          3  with us now are paid $6.25 an hour from a state

          4  grant that we have received for the program.

          5                 So, for many of the kids, frankly, it

          6  is an important summer position, an opportunity to

          7  be part of law enforcement from the other side, an

          8  important summer job for many, and for many an

          9  important educational experience. Some of them have

         10  become the best advocates in taking the message back

         11  to their friends. We didn't screen the kids when we

         12  hired them from different youth at risk programs and

         13  so forth, and we didn't say do you smoke. We didn't

         14  know what kind of answers we would get, and we

         15  didn't know what we would be told. I will tell you

         16  that by the end of the program, these are some of

         17  the kids out there really spreading the word to

         18  their peers about the dangers of smoking.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBINSON: Thank you.

         20                 Another question I would like to ask

         21  you is, and you might have addressed this in your

         22  testimony but regretfully I was coming from up at

         23  Hunter College where I had another Committee tour

         24  dealing with education, I want to know, is there an

         25  area of the City that is more egregious than others
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          2  in committing these kinds of violations?

          3                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: We have

          4  neighborhood-by-neighborhood breakdowns, and I would

          5  be pleased to provide you and any of the members an

          6  analysis by community board of the number of sales

          7  made in your district.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBINSON: You have the

          9  locations of those? You have them by number? By name

         10  of owner? Owner and addresses?

         11                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Well, I have

         12  for you a list of every store in your district and

         13  everyone that sold once, everyone that sold twice,

         14  and everyone that sold, unfortunately, three times,

         15  and then also a list of those who should be out of

         16  business in theory because we have caught them three

         17  times, but sadly, you will find them continuing to

         18  do business in the same location with another

         19  license, under another name. I will be happy to

         20  provide that.

         21                 I will tell you that the percentages

         22  Citywide: Queens, 42 percent of the stores sold;

         23  Brooklyn, 34 percent; Manhattan, 33 percent; the

         24  Bronx, 34 percent; Staten Island, 41 percent. Fewer

         25  stores in Staten Island, the samples may be a bit
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          2  smaller, but overall, 35, 36 percent, and we would

          3  be happy to show you some of the neighborhoods. But,

          4  unfortunately it is happening in immigrant

          5  neighborhoods, it is happening in minority

          6  neighborhoods, it is happening in the upper east

          7  side, on the upper west side, in the inner-boroughs,

          8  in the outer-boroughs. Sadly to say, this is one of

          9  the problems that seems to be an equal opportunity

         10  offender throughout the City.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBINSON: Thank you

         12  very much.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Thank you.

         14                 And thank you very much,

         15  Commissioner.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LASHER: Can we get a

         17  breakdown for our own districts so that we can have

         18  them and we can take them back and maybe go to the

         19  school directly and assist you within what you are

         20  doing right now?

         21                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: We are very

         22  pleased to provide any of the members of the

         23  Committee with a list of stores by area. We tried to

         24  get some of the community papers to focus. I am

         25  going to be speaking at a community board tonight,
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          2  for instance, and I am going to name one of the

          3  stores that was a three-time offender right then and

          4  there, and I hope that some of the people in the

          5  community board meeting will take their patronage

          6  back as well and recognize that some of their

          7  neighbors aren't operating in the neighborly way

          8  that they would like to see.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LASHER: Thank you.

         10  Because I think that if we can get the statistics

         11  and we can get the areas where they are, and we can

         12  sort of focus it directly into our own communities

         13  and try to eliminate it from our communities.

         14                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Certainly.

         15  And some of the members, the chair and some state

         16  legislators and so forth who requested, we got the

         17  information quickly and easily available, so we

         18  would be happy to provide that.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LASHER: Thank you very

         20  much.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Thank you very

         22  much.

         23                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Thank you

         24  for the opportunity to testify today, and I hope

         25  that we will have an opportunity in the real near
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          2  future to see the Council acting on the legislation

          3  so that the stores that unfortunately are selling

          4  today are risking the penalties, will be aware of

          5  the substantially heightened risks they face and

          6  give us the opportunity to truly send the message to

          7  stores, that if you are going to repeatedly sell,

          8  there is going to be a serious penalty.

          9                 So, I thank you for the chance today

         10  and I hope that we will have an opportunity to see

         11  the Council moving on the legislation in the future.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Thank you.

         13                 We have a lot of people that want to

         14  testify, I am going to ask you to hold your personal

         15  comments to yourself. At the end if you want to clap

         16  that is fine, but I want to give everybody the

         17  opportunity today that signed up to testify. So,

         18  please, there is no clapping, there is no booing,

         19  there is just listening to everybody who has

         20  something to say.

         21                 I would like to call now Richard

         22  Lipsky and Richard Pak.

         23                 MR. LIPSKY: My name is Richard

         24  Lipsky. I appreciate this opportunity to address the

         25  Consumer Affairs Committee on Intro. 468-A. I am

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            41

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  representing in this regard Jetro Cash and Carry,

          3  which sells to most of the mom and pop businesses,

          4  food products primarily, groceries, et cetera, who

          5  are concerned about the bill.

          6                 To my right is Mr. Richard Pak from

          7  the Korean American Grocers Association, and he will

          8  begin before I address you with his remarks.

          9                 MR. PAK: Thank you, Chairwoman and

         10  Council Member. My name is Richard Pak and I am the

         11  President of the Korean American Grocers Association

         12  trade group that represents over 3,000 Korean

         13  grocers in New York City.

         14                 I am here this afternoon to testify

         15  about the Intro. 468-A, a bill that would seriously

         16  hurt the interests of all of our members and all

         17  small retailers that sell tobacco in New York City.

         18  As it is currently written, Intro. 468-A will

         19  threaten the livelihood of neighborhood stores.

         20                 Let me say from the very beginning

         21  that all of us are strongly opposed to the selling

         22  of tobacco products to minors. At the same time,

         23  however, we are opposed to a law that fails to

         24  provide small store owners with even a tiny amount

         25  of fairness and due process.
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          2                 This is a crucial issue since the

          3  loss of a tobacco license is the equivalent of the

          4  commercial death sentence since up to 25 percent of

          5  a store's gross revenues are often derived from the

          6  tobacco.

          7                 Given the importance of this sales

          8  category, it is absolutely essential for the City

          9  Council to ensure that store owners are not falsely

         10  accused and, as a result, wrongly deprived of a

         11  license. Intro. 468-A provide no such protection.

         12                 I wonder if any of the members of

         13  this committee know the last time the Department of

         14  Consumer Affairs actually lost an enforcement

         15  hearing. As far as we know, they have never lost a

         16  case. That is not a shock. Any time you make one

         17  person or one agency both the judge and the jury,

         18  arbitrary behavior will always follow. Our members

         19  have told us hundreds of horror stories of sting

         20  operations where undercover agents, who look 30

         21  years old, catch unwitting store owners in an

         22  illegal sale.

         23                 Shockingly, when you go to the

         24  Department of Consumer Affairs for a hearing, you

         25  are not even allowed to confront your accuser.
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          2                 In order to make Intro. 468-A fairer,

          3  it is essential that the power to revoke a license

          4  is given to a different governing body, separate

          5  from the agency that issues the violation. Perhaps,

          6  it would be possible for an arbitration panel to

          7  make this revocation decision that has the power of

          8  life and death for the small retailer.

          9                 Given the fact that sales to minors

         10  is such an emotional issue, it is important to take

         11  great steps to ensure that proper due process

         12  procedures are in place. Make no mistake about it,

         13  the revocation of a license is final since most

         14  grocers don't have the resources to challenge the

         15  city in court.

         16                 Another defect in the proposed law is

         17  its over-emphasis on enforcement and its lack of

         18  emphasis on education. There is often a big turnover

         19  in store ownership and new store owners are often

         20  immigrants who have a limited knowledge of this

         21  culture, as well as the English language.

         22                 We propose that the effective

         23  implementation date of this law be delayed an

         24  additional six months. In that period of time, the

         25  Department, using its increased license fee, should
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          2  conduct retail seminars for all tobacco businesses.

          3  It can even be made a prerequisite for obtaining a

          4  license so that when a store is sold, a new licensee

          5  must go to a training seminar.

          6                 There are a number of other problems

          7  we see in this legislation. Because my time is

          8  limited here, I will list them briefly and others

          9  will go into them in more detail.

         10                 First, prohibiting the sale of a

         11  store to a relative after a license is revoked is

         12  unfair and will have the effect of closing the store

         13  at a total loss to the retailer.

         14                 We need to use an arbitrator in this

         15  regard as well. How is the city going to tell one

         16  Kim family from another Kim family, on Park family

         17  from another Park family and one Lee family from

         18  another Lee family? Frustration and red tape here

         19  will only lead to foreclosure and bankruptcy.

         20                 Two violations in a two-year period

         21  is also too harsh, especially with the constant

         22  turnover of employees. We would suggest that the law

         23  be amended to call for revocation of the license

         24  only after two violations in a one-year period. We

         25  would also like to propose that the initial fine
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          2  under the current law be raised 100 percent to $600

          3  if the violator falls to go to a remedial training

          4  program. The time away from their business is a

          5  punishment in itself and it will have the effect of

          6  actually reinforcing the law for the storekeeper.

          7                 Tobacco sales to minors is a serious

          8  problem. The rising level of bankruptcies of grocery

          9  stores is also a serious problem. We need to balance

         10  these two problems by ensuring that storeowners are

         11  treated with the fairness that every American

         12  expects given arbitrary powers of enforcement to one

         13  agency is not the proper way to solve this problem.

         14  Intro. 468-A should make sure that the storeowners

         15  are educated and that the hearings are fair.

         16                 Thank you for your time.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: I have two

         18  questions that I would like to ask you.

         19                 How do you account for the fact that

         20  in the City Council's recent survey 56 percent of

         21  businesses continue to sell cigarettes to minors?

         22                 MR. PAK: All I know, I get

         23  information from the newspaper. I don't have any

         24  regular channel to get that information.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Well, it is a
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          2  very serious problem and there have been surveys

          3  conducted and I am sad to say that in my own

          4  community where I live some of those people were on

          5  that list and I personally have run into them and

          6  told them. I feel that we have to make accountable

          7  people, store owners, you know, business people in

          8  some way, because cigarette smoking to minors is a

          9  very serious thing, and besides the fact even today

         10  without this law we are breaking the law, and I

         11  think it is very important that we all understand

         12  that we have to abide by the law, even today without

         13  this law here, and with the law in effect, there is

         14  a law in effect selling cigarettes to minors is

         15  illegal, 56 percent of storeowners still sell

         16  cigarettes to minors. Well, there is a problem here,

         17  and that is exactly what we are doing, we are

         18  addressing this problem. Because obviously 56

         19  percent of the people aren't abiding by the law now,

         20  and with many other laws that we have on the books,

         21  if the laws don't get abided by, we have raised

         22  fines on laws where people don't abide by them, and

         23  we have made other laws imposing fines because it is

         24  a very serious offense and in any way if we can

         25  prevent children from smoking, this is important and
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          2  it is an obligation of everybody to try to stop this

          3  from happening. It is very easy to proof someone, to

          4  ask them for proof. And even to turn them away if

          5  they don't have the proof. But to prove themselves

          6  that they are 18 years old and could have

          7  cigarettes, and if they are 19 years old and there

          8  is a question, and they don't have proof, well then

          9  you can't be in trouble.

         10                 MR. LIPSKY: I think, Madam Chair, I

         11  would like to respond to some of that.

         12                 I think the reason, I don't know what

         13  the discrepancy is between the Commissioner's

         14  enforcement and the Council's report, because the

         15  Council found a much greater level of disregard for

         16  the law than the actual enforcement of consumer

         17  affairs, and I think what Consumer Affairs has found

         18  under the existing law is a 30 or so percent

         19  decrease in the number of illegal sales with their

         20  increased enforcement under the current law.

         21                 So, at the one hand the Commissioner

         22  cites that as a success of the Department, and then

         23  on the other hand says we need to triple the fines

         24  in order to get to the next level without any clear

         25  indication that a continued enforcement under the
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          2  current fine structures wouldn't have the same

          3  impact.

          4                 But to get to your question in terms

          5  of --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: I just want to

          7  add to that, whether I believe -- I am going to take

          8  Queens for example. I believe the Commissioner said

          9  that the amount of illegal sales in Queens was 42

         10  percent. That is a lot. That is absolutely a lot and

         11  it doesn't matter -- 42 percent of the store owners,

         12  taking the consumer affairs figures, are still

         13  breaking the law, and that is a lot of people.

         14                 MR. LIPSKY: What I would add to that,

         15  and I would agree with that. I would also add to

         16  that, that means if you want an explanation there is

         17  also looking at supply and demand. And that what we

         18  have is a lot of young people who are demanding

         19  cigarettes, for whatever reason. Now, what this law

         20  doesn't do, as I think it should do --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Then let their

         22  parents go in and buy it and take the

         23  responsibility.

         24                 MR. LIPSKY: You know, what I think,

         25  in terms of the Commissioner having the undercover
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          2  agents and all of the teenagers who are being

          3  brought into the sting operations, if you look at

          4  what these kids are doing in terms of buying as

          5  under age kids, and being instructed on how to break

          6  the law, I think that is a bad precedent to set. But

          7  I also think that if in fact young people are

          8  violating the law in such significant numbers that

          9  Intro. 468-A should be amended, to penalize the

         10  purchase as well as the sale, because what we have

         11  is a transaction. We have young people who have been

         12  taught and know this culture often better than the

         13  store keepers themselves, they know from

         14  kindergarten with the D.A.R.E. Programs that this is

         15  not only bad for them but it is also against the

         16  law, and they continue to come in and try to buy an

         17  illegal product. What we are saying is that if it is

         18  illegal to sell, it is illegal to purchase at the

         19  same time.

         20                 And if your goal is to stop sales, to

         21  focus just on the seller and not the purchaser, I

         22  think the law could be strengthened by making,

         23  sharing blame across the board.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: To who?

         25                 MR. LIPSKY: To the purchaser. If a
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          2  young person commits a crime, if God forbid commits

          3  robbery or murder at 17, it is often treated as

          4  adult. So, somehow it has to get the message that it

          5  is not only the store keeper who is at fault, but

          6  there is a tremendous demand for the product, and it

          7  is by kids who should know better, and if they don't

          8  know better there should be a penalty that they and

          9  their parents have to pay for violating the law.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Mr. Lipsky, I

         11  just want to say that when I was 14 years old, I

         12  started to smoke, and I can assure you that my

         13  parents did not know that I smoked probably until I

         14  was about 17 years old. And I think in many cases

         15  that is a common thing. I know in growing up when I

         16  grew up, all of my friends smoked and none of their

         17  parents knew that they smoked. And I had a sister

         18  who was older and who used to go and buy cigarettes

         19  and give them to me.

         20                 MR. LIPSKY: Well, all I am saying,

         21  and we are roughly in the same age category, it was

         22  a lot less, we were a lot less aware at that time,

         23  what we have had is 20 years of education, 20 years

         24  of warnings, and kids still come to purchase. You

         25  know, I think that if an enforcement agent or a law
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          2  enforcement officer brings that young person to that

          3  parent and says we just caught him in the store, and

          4  you know, there are penalties here, then what you

          5  have is a greater opportunity to reduce sales.

          6                 But to just blame the store owner,

          7  and I am not saying the store owner is not to blame

          8  when you catch him in an illegal act, but I think it

          9  is not going to do the full job. You know, we don't

         10  like the fact that the blame is only on the seller

         11  and not the purchaser.

         12                 But let me just make a few remarks

         13  and then offer the opportunity for questions.

         14                 I think what Mr. Pak is suggesting is

         15  in the area of enforcement. With all due respect to

         16  the Commissioner, the Commissioner has never lost a

         17  case. He sends out the enforcement agent, he issues

         18  the violation, his agency holds the trial, he

         19  convicts and then he revokes.

         20                 I don't think anyone here on this

         21  Committee would want to be accused of something and

         22  have to be put through that kind of an adjudication

         23  process.

         24                 Now what we are talking about is

         25  potentially losing someone's livelihood. To lose a
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          2  livelihood here, without all of the insurance that

          3  the person was guilty, and the Commissioner when we

          4  talked to him actually said that the only defense

          5  that you have in his Department is if you actually

          6  don't sell cigarettes or they got the wrong store.

          7  And he kind of said that in the testimony, we got

          8  affidavits, we got this and that - I am sorry, there

          9  is a tremendous pressure to collect fines, and

         10  whether it is this Department or any other

         11  Department, enforcement agents are under quotas to

         12  collect fines. People do things on the -- and the

         13  Commissioner said human nature and trying to make a

         14  buck, he is right. But on the other side you have

         15  enforcement agents with careers and agencies and

         16  bureaucrats with reputations, and if you don't have

         17  the proper due process in place, innocent people can

         18  be, innocent store owners can be unfairly convicted

         19  and lose their livelihood. And what we are saying

         20  is, let's see if we can create a process here, and

         21  given the emotional aspect, and Chairwoman you

         22  mentioned it and I think it is true, we are talking

         23  about life and death for the purchaser as well and

         24  the serious health issues involved. Given the

         25  seriousness of the public health problem, there is
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          2  even a greater pressure to enforce, and that is why

          3  I think it behooves the Council to create guidelines

          4  that are as protective as the rights of these store

          5  owners as possible, because everyone is looking to

          6  enforce and show how good they are and how strongly

          7  they are looking at this issue and trying to solve

          8  the problem, let's just make sure that the one

          9  innocent store owner doesn't get sacrificed. You

         10  know, that is the principle of American

         11  jurisprudence, that better 20 people who are guilty

         12  go off and one innocent person loses their

         13  livelihood in this case.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Council Member

         15  Watkins.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: Thank you,

         17  Madam Chair.

         18                 Mr. Lipsky, let me start by

         19  addressing your comments having to do with

         20  penalizing the purchasers and talking about 17 year

         21  olds who go out and commit crimes, usually which are

         22  endangering other people, assault, murder, whatever,

         23  robbery. I think that your argument misses one major

         24  thing that is one of the foundations of the American

         25  culture and of the American form of democracy, and
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          2  that is, we are obligated to protect our children.

          3  That is our job. So, the fact that we have 14 year

          4  olds and 13 year olds and 12 year olds who manage to

          5  purchase cigarettes, it is wrong that they are doing

          6  it, that does not negate the fact that the

          7  responsibility ultimately is on the adults who

          8  knowingly sell to minors. The law is structured that

          9  way for us to protect our children.

         10                 I do have some concerns about the

         11  people that feel that they are not being protected

         12  as merchants. But let me ask Mr. Pak, I believe it

         13  was in your statement that you mentioned some folks

         14  that looked like 30 year olds. Well, of course it is

         15  possible, but in your businesses, if I recall, part

         16  of the existing law indicates that you are supposed

         17  to question anyone who appears to be at least 25 or

         18  under. When in doubt, ask for ID. If I am 30 years

         19  old and I look like 25 or something, I would be

         20  flattered if you asked me for identification.

         21                 But I have no way of knowing but I

         22  suspect in busy stores, with lots of activity and

         23  turnover, there is not enough attention to

         24  identification.

         25                 MR. LIPSKY: I would say,
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          2  Councilwoman, that you are right, and I think that

          3  it borders on the unethical then for the Department

          4  of Enforcement here, knowing that there may be an

          5  intention rather than egregious violation, that if

          6  you send a 15 year old in who looks 15 and you sell

          7  to that person, it is clear that the disregard for

          8  the law is apparent. But if you have a busy location

          9  and someone does look older, there is more of a

         10  chance that it was a mistaken situation, rather than

         11  a willful attempt to violate the law.

         12                 And then if you have an enforcement

         13  proceeding where that undercover agent is not

         14  required to testify, so that the law judge doesn't

         15  look at them, maybe that is a mitigating, takes a

         16  look, and, gee, you know, I might not have proofed

         17  this person, then I think that is what is unfair.

         18  What we are looking at is trying to weed out

         19  initially at least those people who have no regard

         20  for the law at all, and who would sell it to someone

         21  who obviously looked underage.

         22                 MR. PAK: All of our members, which I

         23  lately take the complaint, which is the enforcing of

         24  the law, what I would like to mention is it is a

         25  sting operation. My member, which they have a store,

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            56

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  very busy store, corner store. They have very high

          3  rent, high-tech, they are mainly in like business

          4  two, three hours in the morning, and two, three

          5  hours lunch hour. Their line is long and the person

          6  has to be really moving. And I don't know, something

          7  about the enforcement officer, they come in at that

          8  time, looks like I don't know, maybe 30 years old, I

          9  would say probably someone from the police academy

         10  who looks like, you know, nice build, the body, they

         11  have a mustache on him, and they look like maybe

         12  even more than 30 years old. So sometimes we are

         13  unaware. The enforcement that tries to catch our

         14  mistake and we are getting punished. This is what he

         15  mentioned. We have so many complaint, I get the call

         16  from a lot of members and the one day they come and

         17  they like to buy cigarettes. They show up, put the

         18  cigarettes on the counter, pay the money and get the

         19  receipt. If they looked like they were 14, 15, then

         20  we should get punished, I completely agree there.

         21  But a lot of my members say it is like a sting

         22  operation, they are terrified. They are not even

         23  aware they sell the cigarette to the minor,

         24  sometimes they not even realize. They are asking for

         25  the police officer, I would like to know the person
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          2  who bought the cigarette, and we have not way to

          3  charge it. They cannot even bring it to, who

          4  purchased the cigarette, they never bring them back

          5  to the store. There is no way to find out he is 18

          6  or 25 or 30, we have no idea until we come to the

          7  court.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: Mr. Pak?

          9                 MR. PAK: Yes.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: Part of the

         11  problem is that when it comes to the sale of tobacco

         12  items, even if it is a busy time in the store, that

         13  is the time when the employees of those stores are

         14  going to have to be more cautious about asking for

         15  the age, even if they have to slow down the lines.

         16                 I just want to say one last thing,

         17  because I know that, as the Chairwoman has said, 44

         18  percent is way too high. I have been in my own

         19  neighborhood and have witnessed teenagers coming in,

         20  buying and being sold tobacco products and certain

         21  kinds of malt liquors, which is not up on today's

         22  agenda, but which are illegal.

         23                 One of the things I have noticed, or

         24  we had heard and we had read, that many of the

         25  stores have increased security of some kind at the
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          2  early morning and lunch hours and immediately after

          3  school when young people congregate in there and,

          4  and I don't blame you by the way, manage to make

          5  sure that those miscreants who try to get away with

          6  stolen goods are caught. And well, you should. But I

          7  would hope that the same vigilance is applied to

          8  catching those who are under age and attempting to

          9  purchase cigarettes. Now, why is this such a big

         10  thing for us? Obviously you are concerned about your

         11  livelihood and we are too, because a city that

         12  doesn't have thriving businesses is a city on the

         13  decline. So we are concerned. But we are concerned

         14  about saving the lives of our children. Smoking

         15  kills, and we can no longer ignore that fact and if

         16  it is our responsibility to protect our youth, then

         17  it is our responsibility to do all that we can to

         18  prevent them from becoming smokers at an early age.

         19                 MR. LIPSKY: Let me just address what

         20  Councilwoman Watkins said. Just on one point, in

         21  terms of the difference between how we treat

         22  children and as adults we are responsible - I think

         23  one of the ways to teach children also, and I am not

         24  saying that the punishment for children should be

         25  equal to the store, and what I was saying is that
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          2  there should be some method of punishing young

          3  people for breaking the law, I think we teach them a

          4  great deal when we hold them responsible for their

          5  actions, and we let them know that if they are

          6  violating the law, certain consequences will occur.

          7  This doesn't mean we throw them in jail for buying

          8  cigarettes, but there are things that would send a

          9  message as well.

         10                 But I would also want to address

         11  something else the Commissioner said, in terms of

         12  selling to a relative, which is to the Commissioner

         13  the heart of this bill or one of the strong parts of

         14  this bill, he feels that stores are being flipped

         15  illegally, he offered absolutely no proof of that.

         16  He gave a 62 percent number, which, again, I think

         17  that if I turned here and said, Mr. Kim, please

         18  stand up, we would have a lot of folks standing up

         19  here.

         20                 Here is the problem. Most bodegas or

         21  grocery stores are sold in very informal situations,

         22  handshakes, small amount of money down, now you are

         23  going to say presumptively you are guilty or you are

         24  flipping this store. You must prove you are not

         25  flipping this store.
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          2                 Now, I can prove Councilman Sabini is

          3  my brother, I am going to have a harder time proving

          4  he is not. And especially when you have ethnic

          5  groups with similar names, now what you have is a

          6  long drawn-out involvement in the sale of the city

          7  government. Maybe you need to hire a genealogist, to

          8  try to make the case that it is not your relative

          9  that you are selling to.

         10                 I am not saying that stores aren't

         11  flipped, but the way to address it here is so

         12  outrageous, and if I am a purchaser, and I know now

         13  the City government is going to be involved in the

         14  sale or I am going to have to go through affidavits

         15  and depositions and so forth, I am not buying the

         16  store from him. Now, that may be the Commissioner's

         17  intent, to close that location, because it is a

         18  problem location. But it may be in a neighborhood

         19  where you want that retail activity and it is

         20  providing a strong function for that neighborhood,

         21  in terms of safety, in terms of availability, of

         22  milk and eggs and bread at all hours of the day and

         23  night, and that may be, his problem location may be

         24  to the community an important retail location, but

         25  the end result will be that it will be closed
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          2  because of the amount of red tape that you are going

          3  to put into this sale and the difficulty involved.

          4                 In addition, Mr. Tisch will testify

          5  in a little while that you have ethnic communities

          6  here - the Koreans in grocery stores, Dominicans and

          7  Mexicans in bodegas and Indians and Pakastanis in

          8  candy stores and stationery stores who are often

          9  related. At least 90 percent of the Dominican

         10  supermarket owners all come from Santiago and the

         11  Dominican Republic, they are all cousins. So, this

         12  provision of the law is I think an onerous one and

         13  it is going to make it difficult for small -- and of

         14  course it sets a different standard for smaller

         15  businesses then for large. And I would also suggest,

         16  in terms of the good questions that the chair has

         17  asked, in terms of what is severe disciplinary

         18  measure mean when you catch an employee, it is

         19  sometimes hard for mom to fire pop, if it is a

         20  relative involved here it is a difficult situation.

         21  There are no guidelines.

         22                 And I think what we should do also in

         23  terms of amending the bill, if you would, would be

         24  to set some guidelines in terms of what enforcement,

         25  how undercover should go, what kind of adjudication
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          2  process should be a part of this and maybe even

          3  taking the end result, deciding revocation, as Mr.

          4  Pak said, to an arbitration panel, rather than

          5  letting the Commissioner do it himself.

          6                 One last point on education. As hard

          7  as it is for the Commissioner to believe that people

          8  are unaware, there is a tremendous immigrant

          9  population that turns over in these small stores.

         10  What we are asking for is six months in delayed

         11  implementation. We want the Department to be able to

         12  get out there, take that extra money that they are

         13  going to make, put it into education, work with

         14  Councilman Robinson's neighborhood groups, let's

         15  identify the retailers in that neighborhood, let's

         16  have forums that can be run on a neighborhood base

         17  level so that if in fact you catch a retailer after

         18  that kind of educational outreach, you know darn

         19  well that they have no regard for the law at all.

         20                 So, what we are saying is let's

         21  educate people in all of the languages that they are

         22  brought up in.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Council Member

         24  Watkins, are you finished?

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: Yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Okay. The

          3  Chair is on her way back. I have a question. There

          4  is a list.

          5                 Mr. Lipsky and Mr. Pak, I am not on

          6  the bill, so I still have an open mind about this

          7  bill, but one argument that you have made against

          8  the bill strikes me as not being a reasonable one.

          9                 You have objected to the method in

         10  which the license revocation would be adjudicated,

         11  because it is in agency. No one would like to be

         12  subject to that, yet New Yorkers are subject to that

         13  every day in the Violations Bureau. Your client,

         14  your group is subjected to that every day with stoop

         15  stand licenses, with amplification for advertising

         16  by the DEP which is adjudicated at the ECB, which is

         17  a branch of DEP. You stoop stands are adjudicated by

         18  DCA, weights and measures are adjudicated by the

         19  Department of Agriculture of the State. So this

         20  happens every day, who would you have adjudicate

         21  this license?

         22                 MR. LIPSKY: Well, I think you are

         23  right, and I think that this Council did pass,

         24  although the Governor vetoed it, a debt tribunal

         25  bill that would set up a separate tribunal to do
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          2  these things. I would agree -- but there is a

          3  qualitative difference, it is taking it to a

          4  different level. What you are talking about is

          5  putting someone out of business here.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Doesn't a

          7  stoop stand revocation put somebody out of business?

          8                 MR. LIPSKY: Those enforcement actions

          9  aren't the subject of this kind of effort, this kind

         10  of money that is being put behind it, and I am not

         11  saying that those are fair either. I would say that

         12  --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: What is

         14  better, is my question then? You are objecting to

         15  what would be better?

         16                 MR. LIPSKY: Under revocation, if a

         17  license, and I would say across the Board, whether

         18  it was a stoop stand or whether it was a tobacco

         19  license, that an arbitration panel be set up or debt

         20  tribunal be set up.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: We tried to do

         22  that and the Governor vetoed it.

         23                 MR. LIPSKY: That is because it

         24  companioned with an indebtedness bill that he didn't

         25  like. But the small business community which urged
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          2  him to reject the bill because of that also did

          3  support the debt tribunal, and I know the Committee

          4  is looking to have hearings on the enforcement

          5  process across the board and we welcome that.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Okay. So we

          7  don't have that tribunal now, and my question

          8  remains, what would you do to adjudicate a

          9  revocation of a license that you wouldn't object to?

         10                 MR. LIPSKY: Well, I would say that

         11  what would be a good idea would be to have a

         12  computer generated three arbitrator panel from OCB

         13  to review the license revocation, to review the

         14  enforcement, to take a look at the under age,

         15  quote/unquote, enforcement person, to make a

         16  judgment. To listen to the retailer to see if he --

         17  someone who has no vested interest in making sure

         18  that the guilty verdict sticks.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Council Member

         20  Lasher.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LASHER: Thank you.

         22                 You were talking about guidelines

         23  before and from my understanding, one of the things

         24  that were said is that 56 percent of the sales go to

         25  minors. Doesn't that make it an outrageous thing
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          2  that this is happening to so many minors? That this

          3  is destroying their lives?

          4                 I understand the problem that you

          5  have, I understand the problem of trying to get some

          6  type of board that becomes effective, but I think

          7  that that board, once it became effective, would not

          8  come to a different conclusion than we have up here

          9  at this time, because what happens to our children

         10  is what is going to happen to our future.

         11                 These children, there must be some

         12  way that you as the businessman has to have control

         13  over those cigarettes, has to have the ability to

         14  say no to anybody who has come in, if they are

         15  apparently under age.

         16                 I think that unfortunately sometimes

         17  that there is no legislation that can make for a

         18  change in what is going on and what is happening,

         19  but the point that I am trying to make is that it is

         20  the retailers, that who are selling the cigarettes,

         21  that who are doing what is wrong to our young

         22  people.

         23                 Obviously in order to make the dollar

         24  it is also very important because it provides for

         25  our families, it provides for our children, but when
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          2  you put it on a weight of balancing, and you say

          3  that 50 percent of sales --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Council Member

          5  I am going to have to interrupt and ask you to

          6  please sum up because there are people waiting to

          7  testify that have to leave.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LASHER: Okay. In that

          9  case go right ahead.

         10                 MR. LIPSKY: In closing, I would say,

         11  Councilman Lasher, that where we disagree is that I

         12  don't assume that every single person that the

         13  Department cites is actually guilty before a proper

         14  adjudication, and that is what we are asking for.

         15                 If in fact a three-judge or

         16  three-arbitrator panel would decide that that person

         17  was guilty, then nothing is lost, but if that one

         18  person is judged unfairly guilty and he gets to keep

         19  his license, I think that is important too.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Okay, thank

         21  you very much.

         22                 MR. PAK: And one --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: I really have

         24  to move along. I am going to cut witnesses short,

         25  people have to leave. We have three students here
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          2  that would like to come up and testify, the students

          3  from Edward R. Murrow.

          4                 Paul Tevsadse, Polina Meyman, Irina

          5  Gayarich, Serena Goldstein, Andrew Hysell and Jeff

          6  Hollander, and Terry Neeley, is she here? She should

          7  be with this group.

          8                 MR. TEVSADSE: Good afternoon,

          9  honorable Madam Chair, residing panel, ladies and

         10  gentlemen. My name is Paul Tevsadse, and I am from

         11  Brooklyn High School, Edward R. Murrow.

         12                 Ladies and gentlemen, I need not to

         13  remind you of how greatly important it is, what is

         14  so hotly being debated here today. However, it rests

         15  solely on your shoulders to have the burden of

         16  debating this issue out in a manner that is

         17  favorable to my peers and you so that as soon as

         18  this bill goes into effect, we can start saving

         19  lives, 50,000 lives that start smoking every day,

         20  and that is just teenagers.

         21                 In the past we have passed a bill and

         22  many similar bills followed around the country all

         23  to curb teenage smoking, and make society a cleaner,

         24  healthier place.

         25                 However, while many people have
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          2  recently began to quit, so many more will start

          3  every single day. Some of you might wonder how come

          4  3,000 kids begin smoking every day, when we have

          5  strict laws aiming to prevent teenage smoking.

          6  Ladies and gentlemen, it is quite simple, our laws

          7  don't work.

          8                 You see, under current laws stores

          9  are not allowed to sell tobacco products to anyone

         10  who is under 27 under federal regulations and who is

         11  under the age of 25 under city regulations, without

         12  proper identification. However, living in a perfect

         13  world where people are too corrupt and will do

         14  anything for profit, such as people who sell

         15  cigarettes to minors without asking for proper

         16  identification.

         17                 The fines are too small, simply $250,

         18  and the stores that continuously sell cigarettes to

         19  minors are stores that have been doing it repeatedly

         20  and have been doing it for awhile. Such small fines

         21  are nothing to them, and although the fines increase

         22  the second and the third time the store is caught

         23  selling tobacco to minors, the fines still remain

         24  much too small for the stores because when one

         25  weighted out against the profit that they make by
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          2  selling tobacco to minors, it is much less.

          3                 After the third time the store is

          4  caught selling tobacco, it runs the chance of having

          5  its license revoked. But this is where the loopholes

          6  come in. Once the store is caught selling tobacco to

          7  teams more than three times the store owner can

          8  simply flip the store, which is a very common

          9  practice. Simply it is selling the store to its

         10  relative, and keeping the same store name with the

         11  same license to sell cigarettes and continue selling

         12  cigarettes to minors as if nothing has every

         13  happened.

         14                 Honorable Speaker, ladies and

         15  gentlemen, isn't it time we put an end to this

         16  horror of getting innocent young lives addicted to

         17  poison? I support the matter at hand, namely to

         18  ticket the store location rather than the store

         19  itself, and reduce this three strikes program to two

         20  strikes program, which will give the stores less of

         21  an opportunity and a chance to sell cigarettes to

         22  minors and get away with it, by payment of rather a

         23  small fine.

         24                 I speak from experience when I tell

         25  you that such practices take place every day. I and

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            71

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  my co-students are involved in a program called

          3  Protect Our Youth. This program would basically go

          4  around stores, would go to the stores around our

          5  school and we try to buy cigarettes undercover. And

          6  although the amount of stores that sell cigarettes

          7  to minors right now has been significantly reduced

          8  throughout our school area, there are still some

          9  stores that sell and there are stores that we are

         10  aware of that have repeatedly many times flipped the

         11  store and sold it to a relative, and kept on selling

         12  tobacco products to minors.

         13                 I, myself, have also worked for the

         14  Department of Consumer Affairs a summer ago, not

         15  this summer, but the past summer, and I just would

         16  like to comment on what Mr. Polonetsky had to say

         17  about the matter.

         18                 First of all, yes, there is a

         19  compensation, but we were out on the streets eight

         20  hours a day during the summer, which was a very hot

         21  one. We were going to the stores, I was not the one

         22  buying the cigarettes, I was the one actually doing

         23  the education program for the store owners and we

         24  actually came in, we had packets, with information,

         25  with stickers, with signs to put in the stores. We
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          2  have explained to store owners about the policy of

          3  selling cigarettes to minors. We told them what the

          4  rules are, we told them what the consequences are if

          5  they get caught. And I can tell you honestly, that

          6  it is not so much about the education of store

          7  owners as it is about the personal opinion and

          8  choice of store owners of whether or not to sell the

          9  cigarettes to minors.

         10                 I know Consumer Affairs does it all

         11  the time, we do it around our school, and yet there

         12  are still stores that continue to sell cigarettes.

         13  It is simply not because we don't educate them well

         14  enough, but it is because they have already made up

         15  their mind to sell cigarettes and they would do

         16  anything for the profit.

         17                 I also would like to comment on what

         18  Mr. Lipsky had to say. I think it is very outrageous

         19  and ridiculous to blame us, the teens, for saying

         20  that it is our fault that we smoke, and you know,

         21  teenagers are getting addicted to smoking. It is not

         22  so much that the teenagers are smoking, it is the

         23  fact that they are falling into the bottomless pit

         24  of continuous advertising that was pushed on by

         25  media and by advertisement which was cleverly
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          2  designed and paid for, well paid for, by the

          3  cigarette companies. Now the billboards are gone,

          4  but there are still so many stickers and store

          5  fronts plastered with Marlboro signs and Kool signs

          6  and all the other cigarette signs, and I think there

          7  is just simply too much peer pressure and still

          8  continues to be too much advertising from tobacco

          9  companies that encourage teenage smoking.

         10                 After all, the teenagers that smoke

         11  today are the future buyers of tobacco tomorrow, so

         12  there is really no loss for the tobacco company. And

         13  there have been landmarked cases, such as one in

         14  Florida, where judges have ruled that tobacco

         15  companies were indeed responsible for the problems,

         16  for the health problems that people experienced

         17  because of smoking. And this just goes to show that

         18  they are losing consumers, they are losing people

         19  that are buying their products and the way to make

         20  up for that is only to create new ones. And to

         21  create new ones means to attract more teenagers.

         22                 So, that is what I have to say on the

         23  matter.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Okay, I just

         25  want to ask, is Arthur Powell up here?
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          2                 MR. TEVASDSE: Yes.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Okay, fine.

          4  Because you are part of this group also.

          5                 Okay, we are going to start limiting

          6  the speakers because of the time.

          7                 MR. PERLOWITZ: How do you do?

          8  Obviously I am not one of the students here, I am

          9  actually a teacher that runs the program Protect Our

         10  Youth. I have a speech but I am not going to, I want

         11  to respond to some of the things I have heard today.

         12  What we do is really directly involve what this bill

         13  is about. We send students into stores, in the area

         14  of Edward R. Murrow High School. The purpose of the

         15  program is not to find out who sells, not to give

         16  fines, not to give penalties, it is the reverse. It

         17  is to find out who does not sell. To those stores

         18  that do not sell, we give them posters and we give

         19  them community recognition and we urge the members

         20  of the community to patronize the stores that have

         21  the posters. We send students in every month. Every

         22  time the store does not sell, we give them a new

         23  label for their poster with a new month on it. We

         24  have advertised in the Kings Courier, we have

         25  advertised in the Bay News, trying to bring
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          2  recognition to these stores.

          3                 Initially when we first started, 75

          4  percent of the stores were selling to the kids. Just

          5  from education, going in saying this is how you can

          6  recognize a youngster, this is what you can say to a

          7  youngster, it really improved things to better than

          8  50 percent.

          9                 Then Consumer Affairs helped us out.

         10  We went in with them, a lot of the students from our

         11  program worked with them, some from other programs,

         12  it went down to about 25 percent. We have been there

         13  ever since. The stores that still sell, I have gone

         14  in, I have talked to them, I have begged, I have

         15  pleaded, given them -- you know, tried to give them

         16  the signs and say let's start over, let's start from

         17  scratch, let's go ahead and work this program, here

         18  is how you can recognize it. They know what it takes

         19  to recognize the students. They know it.

         20                 They have been fined. They have been

         21  fined in some cases at least five times. A single

         22  store, five times. The Department of Finance came

         23  down to take away their tobacco license, they

         24  couldn't do it because they flipped it. It is not a

         25  question of does the stores understand, it is not
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          2  the question.

          3                 There are stores out there that can

          4  be educated and can be helped and this program

          5  proved it and it made a difference, but there are

          6  stores out there that simply realize, hey, I can

          7  make more money by selling the tobacco illegally

          8  than it cost me in fines, and I have a way to get

          9  around the tobacco suspension. So they do it. This

         10  bill is so important.

         11                 I heard them complain up here, well,

         12  the community needs milk, the community needs eggs,

         13  the community needs this - we are not closing down

         14  the store, just take away the tobacco license. They

         15  are still selling the other products that are

         16  helpful to the community. What is the problem there?

         17  They are not closing down a store; they are looking

         18  to stop the store from selling tobacco. It has to

         19  happen. These kids are too important and it is our

         20  responsibility as adults to protect them, and the

         21  vendors of the stores are adults too. They need to

         22  take on the responsibility and not think of money

         23  first.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Thank you.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            77

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2                 Are you part of this group, sir? Sir,

          3  are you part of this group?

          4                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Yes, I am.

          5                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: I am 12 years

          6  old and I go to Wagner Middle School. I took this

          7  afternoon off from school to ask you to support

          8  Intro. 468-A. I think this is a good law because

          9  kids shouldn't be able to smoke at all. It causes 87

         10  percent of lung cancer and since it is cancer it is

         11  still not curable. Smoking can also cause heart

         12  attacks, which are very likely to kill a person.

         13                 If you have been smoking two

         14  cigarettes a day for a year, there will be a gallon

         15  of tar in your lungs and it looks as disgusting as

         16  it sounds. I don't even know why people smoke when

         17  even the Phillip Morris Company acknowledged that

         18  smoking is no good to your health.

         19                 I believe it is too easy for kids my

         20  age to get cigarettes. For example, some merchants

         21  are so desperate to get money they will do anything

         22  even though it is against the law. Now-a-days

         23  cigarettes cost so much it provides big profits for

         24  anyone who sells them.

         25                 For all we know, they could be
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          2  forcing the youngsters into buying cigarettes by

          3  saying it will relieve all stress and make you feel

          4  good. Smoking will only make you feel good if you

          5  like being buried underground in a coffin. I have

          6  learned that getting hooked on cigarettes is

          7  especially dangerous at such a young age when

          8  hormones are changing. It can stunt your growth and

          9  worse, be a lifetime addiction to a deadly habit.

         10                 I know kids who buy cigarettes and

         11  smoke outside my school and they are only 12 or 13

         12  years old. My friend tried smoking when he was only

         13  12 and probably got it from one of the many stores

         14  surrounding his school.

         15                 Since my school lets kids out at

         16  lunchtime, there is an opportunity for 1,300

         17  students to be buying cigarettes in the

         18  neighborhood.

         19                 Imagine how many kids are in New York

         20  City schools that can be affected.

         21                 Secondhand smoking is just as bad as

         22  firsthand smoking, but not much safer. I am

         23  concerned about inhaling any amount of secondhand

         24  smoke and hold my nose when someone around me

         25  smokes. Most of all, I wonder about my friends and
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          2  hope that they won't become addicted because they

          3  see other kids smoking. The truth is, we only have a

          4  few years to be teens and kids, so we have to live

          5  it well.

          6                 MR. HYSELL: Hi. My name is Andrew

          7  Hysell. I am with the Campaign for Tobacco-Free

          8  Kids. We are a nationwide organization, our goal is

          9  to protect children from tobacco addiction, as well

         10  as secondhand smoke.

         11                 I did submit written testimony, so I

         12  will just be brief. Simply put, this is a really

         13  good bill. The provisions that the Commissioner

         14  outlined, that is the reason this is such a good

         15  bill, especially this provision that prohibits, that

         16  closes the loophole that allows the switching of the

         17  tobacco license.

         18                 It is the work of the New York City

         19  Council and the Mayor and the Commissioner that has

         20  made New York City a national leader on tobacco use

         21  prevention amongst youth, and I think that bears

         22  mentioning. If other cities follow your example, we

         23  will see significant drops in tobacco use around the

         24  country.

         25                 One of the things you guys have done
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          2  is allocated $13 million of these settlement funds

          3  for tobacco prevention, and we urge the Governor to

          4  allocate 20 percent of the state share as well.

          5                 If you pass this bill that is now

          6  written, it would be really clear to New Yorkers

          7  that the City Council and the Mayor and the

          8  Commissioner have shown once again that when it

          9  comes to tobacco and kids, New York City draws the

         10  line.

         11                 So, I am just here today to thank you

         12  for supporting this. It is really good legislation,

         13  and nationally you are something to emulate,

         14  especially if you can pass this legislation intact.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Thank you very

         17  much.

         18                 I would like to make note the hour is

         19  running late, that our Public Advocate Mark Green, I

         20  am submitting testimony into the record. He has

         21  given me testimony to submit, and of course it is in

         22  support of Intro. 468-A.

         23                 I would like to call on Howard Tisch.

         24                 MR. HOLLANDER: Excuse me. I was Jeff

         25  Hollander.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Oh, okay.

          3  Right after Mr. Hollander.  We are going to have to

          4  move this.

          5                 MR. HOLLANDER: Yes.

          6                 Thank you, Chairperson Koslowitz,

          7  members of the Council, staff, and fellow concerned

          8  citizens. I also submitted testimony previously, so

          9  I will be brief in my comments.

         10                 I am addressing you today on behalf

         11  of the 39,000 intermediate and elementary school

         12  children of School District 24 in Queens. I also, by

         13  extension, am a member of the New York City

         14  Coalition of Spins Programs, which represents over 1

         15  million students in the 32 School District in SPARC

         16  of New York City.

         17                 Having been a district administrator

         18  in the field of alcohol and substance abuse programs

         19  more than two decades, I can assure you that

         20  probably one of the more difficult problems we have

         21  is trying to get the availability of tobacco

         22  products to minors removed from our communities.

         23                 We have done education with the store

         24  owners, with the parents, with the local media, in

         25  the schools, in the classrooms, no matter what we
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          2  do, somehow, some way there is an ability to get

          3  around us with our educational programs. And as I

          4  believe you have heard many times, and I don't want

          5  to keep repeating it, money always seems to be the

          6  determining factor and why it is available.

          7                 We have been a part of the New York

          8  State Office of Alcohol and Substance Abuse Services

          9  Compliance Survey back in 1997, when one of our zip

         10  codes was randomly picked. I can assure you that the

         11  integrity of the compliance survey was extremely

         12  well conducted, we had two rosy cheek, very young

         13  students who were part of the New York Police

         14  Department 104 Precinct Explorer Program, they

         15  clearly did not look their age, they looked even 14

         16  or 15, I thought they were intermediate school, but

         17  they were high school students, they purchased

         18  cigarettes in more than 40 percent of the stores in

         19  the 25 that were taken randomly in the computer

         20  sampling. And we were very concerned about this,

         21  because it was a community, as we talked about

         22  today, some communities we wonder is there a greater

         23  prevalence in some areas of the City than others?

         24  This was an area we thought would have a high

         25  compliance rate. These were mom and pop stores, drug
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          2  stores, delis, pizzerias, Chinese takeouts, a cross

          3  section of stores. But across the spectrum we did

          4  find many of them breaking the law. We have worked

          5  with these community stores, we have taken back

          6  advocacy signs, commending them for obeying the law,

          7  if that in fact is what they were doing, however,

          8  most of the students we speak to in our schools have

          9  told us that it is business as usual, they can still

         10  purchase cigarettes almost any time, anywhere, and

         11  in fairness to many of the store owners, sometimes

         12  it is when they go home for dinner and they might

         13  have someone relieving them at the cash register,

         14  but regardless, I think the point is that if you own

         15  the store you are responsible for what goes on, and

         16  we need that compliance to be there as long as the

         17  stores are open in our communities.

         18                 We do support Intro. 468-A. We feel

         19  it is a step in the right direction to strengthen

         20  our laws. The major revisions in this bill will

         21  create stronger fines and enforcement for the

         22  merchants who do violate the law.

         23                 We commend those that obey the law,

         24  and we hope that there will be a greater ability to

         25  advertise those that are because we also find that
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          2  many of them are concerned that if they don't give

          3  tobacco products to children, they will lose the

          4  business of those families.

          5                 We understand what they are saying,

          6  at the same time we understand the law is the law,

          7  and we do support their ability to comply with it,

          8  and we hope that we can weed out those people that

          9  are violating the law in our communities.

         10                 We know the kids are there to --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Okay, I am

         12  going to have to ask you to sum up.

         13                 MR. HOLLANDER: Okay. In summation,

         14  you know that peer pressure usually takes over, and

         15  so we need the assistance of everyone in our

         16  communities to help us in making less of a lifetime

         17  of addiction to our students in the future.

         18                 Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Okay, Howard

         20  Tisch. And I am going to ask you to try and be as

         21  brief as you possibly can.

         22                 MR. TISCH: I will not read my three

         23  hours of testimony that I prepared.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: I was really

         25  hoping for that.
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          2                 MR. TISCH: If I may, I am also going

          3  to distribute a copy of legislation that supports

          4  some of the stuff in my testimony.

          5                 Good afternoon. For those that don't

          6  know me, my name is Howard Tisch. I appear before

          7  you as President of the Metropolitan Food Council,

          8  and General Counsel for the Small Business Congress,

          9  representing 15,000 small businesses in the City of

         10  New York.

         11                 I have presented a few copies of my

         12  testimony and so I will try not and repeat too much

         13  of that. I do want to make some comment on some of

         14  the things that went on today because I have the

         15  unique position of being places where I think nobody

         16  else in this room has.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Howard, you

         18  have to really move it along. I am sorry.

         19                 MR. TISCH: I am talking about

         20  attending a hearing at the Department of Consumer

         21  Affairs. Because you have got testimony here from

         22  Commissioner Polonetsky, which was either given out

         23  of ignorance or intentionally deceptive. When you go

         24  to a hearing of the Department of Consumer Affairs,

         25  the only affidavit presented is an affidavit
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          2  presented that indicates that somebody was a

          3  teenager. I will also produce for you transcripts of

          4  hearings that are done there. You have as much

          5  chance to win a hearing at the Department of

          6  Consumer Affairs as you do before Iatola

          7  Revolutionary Council. He has had over 3,000 hearing

          8  on this issue, not one person has won who is alive.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Well, we asked

         10  the Commissioner and he agreed to show us the

         11  statistics of the hearing.

         12                 No one is in favor of sale of tobacco

         13  products to minors. We certainly believe that

         14  anybody who intentionally or even sloppily sells

         15  cigarettes to minors should be punished. Nobody, at

         16  least certainly nobody in our organization, is in

         17  favor of tobacco sales to anybody, or smoking.

         18  However, they are legal products that can be sold

         19  legally. What we are here to oppose is the draconian

         20  penalty to sales. You must understand in the food

         21  industry, both in the bodegas, the mom and pops and

         22  supermarkets, the turnover is tremendous, right?

         23  This bill is directed almost solely at minority

         24  stores, because there is an easy out for the A&P,

         25  all the foreign-owned companies, A&P, Food Emporium,
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          2  Waldbaum, which are German-owned companies, Pathmark

          3  and Edwards and Stop and Shop, which are Dutch-owned

          4  companies, giant corporations and easy out on this

          5  law. All they have to do is punish somebody. Who, I

          6  don't know, because supposing under this bill one

          7  year one clerk does something, and the next year

          8  another clerk does something, who do you fire,

          9  substantially punish, or do you just pick an

         10  employee and throw them the hell out?

         11                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: They have the

         12  same exact rules as you do.

         13                 MR. TISCH: Yes, except that in a mom

         14  and pop store, right, you have fewer employees.

         15  Frequently it is your cousin Harry who is in there

         16  for the moment --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Let me

         18  interrupt you for a moment. If you have less

         19  employees, you have better control on less than

         20  more.

         21                 MR. TISCH: Oh, I suspect that if you

         22  get into a major store you will find that that is

         23  not quite accurate.

         24                 Large stores have unionized employees

         25  with very little that you can do with them. I can
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          2  tell you that I have a lot more control over my

          3  employees in my office than the controls I have over

          4  my wife. If I was in a mom and pop store and she

          5  sold a pack of cigarettes, there isn't an awful lot

          6  I could do.

          7                 This law sets out, and she is here to

          8  testify, if you want to follow up, she is listening

          9  to me.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: I was going to

         11  say, if she sold a pack of cigarettes in your store

         12  then she doesn't like you.

         13                 MR. TISCH: She shouldn't do it.

         14  Absolutely.

         15                 The penalty should not be as it is

         16  here confiscation of your business and the loss of

         17  everything you have worked for all of your life and

         18  that is what happens in most mom and pop stores.

         19  Understand unlike what the good teacher said

         20  earlier, the mere fact that the store can go on

         21  selling bread and cheese and therefore this doesn't

         22  matter, in independent stores, particularly in

         23  bodegas, cigarettes, tobacco sales represent 25

         24  percent of the profits of the business. Take away

         25  their license, they are out of business. Punish,
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          2  yes. Compel education, yes. Kill them, no. We have

          3  turned this into an anti-tobacco hearing instead of

          4  a law enforcement hearing. Nobody is here to testify

          5  in favor of tobacco. At least not on our staff. What

          6  we are saying is you have to look objectively at the

          7  effects of what you are doing and who you are

          8  favoring and who you are not favoring. The effect of

          9  this -- I mean, under the Commissioner's statement,

         10  which I read in the Post, rather in the Daily News

         11  today, while he is attacking the City Council, 62

         12  percent of the stores that had their license

         13  revoked, stores are still in those places. What did

         14  you want to do, move those buildings. If a guy loses

         15  his license and goes out of business, does that mean

         16  nobody else can ever come there, and confiscate the

         17  landlords property? I mean, I don't know what

         18  country he thinks he is operating in. Of course, if

         19  there is a vacant store, Lord willing somebody is

         20  going to move into that store. So if you come back,

         21  yes, there is another store operating there. Is that

         22  proof that it was flipped?

         23                 Now, I would like to deal -- first, I

         24  would like a drink of water -- and then I would like

         25  to deal just for a moment with the flipping.
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          2                 This is the first law that I have

          3  seen anywhere in the country that makes everybody

          4  guilty until they are proven innocent.

          5                 You must prove the negatives. You

          6  must prove that you are not related. You must prove

          7  that you are not purchasing the store for purposes

          8  of avoiding the law. I don't know how you prove

          9  these negatives.

         10                 I will tell you, in the Metropolitan

         11  Food Council, we have 43 members named Diaz. Six of

         12  whom are named Juan Diaz. We have 11 members named

         13  Kim, 12 named Fernandez, ten named Park, eight named

         14  Rodriguez, eight named Esqueves, Espinal and Torres,

         15  how can you prove that you are not related to them,

         16  particularly since most of these people are

         17  immigrants to this country, and most of them don't

         18  have access to birth records. It is an impossibility

         19  to prove. How can you prove that I am not buying a

         20  business to evade the law, do we submit to

         21  psychoanalysis? Truth serum? It is an impossibility

         22  to be able to prove that.

         23                 How do you prove, there was one more

         24  that was really a good one -- this is what happens

         25  when I don't read my testimony directly. This law
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          2  requires proving negatives and presumptions of guilt

          3  before innocence. That stands in opposition to

          4  everything that this country stands for. I submit to

          5  you with all respect this law is probably

          6  unconstitutional. And passing an unconstitutional

          7  law, even for the good of the public, is generally

          8  not a good idea. Because what it ends up, it ends up

          9  in litigation and nothing gets accomplished.

         10                 We would prefer to work with the

         11  Council and with the City to try and educate the

         12  stores how not to sell these things. We have

         13  distributed hundreds of kits, thousands of signs and

         14  thousands of memos to try and teach our members what

         15  to do. There should not be a presumption that all

         16  business is criminal until proven innocent, and that

         17  I think is what 468 intends to do.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Howard, can

         19  you please give us instructive information how you

         20  would want to see this bill changed, other than

         21  getting rid of it and forgetting about it, which we

         22  are not doing.

         23                 MR. TISCH: I have in my testimony,

         24  the last section is what I think should be done,

         25  which includes punishment. And I would point out to
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          2  Mr. Sabini, some of your statements were incorrect.

          3  For example, PVB does not issue summonses, it only

          4  adjudicates. I know because I used to be the

          5  director of PVB. Summonses are issued by the Police

          6  Department or by the Department of Transportation.

          7  Granted it is a division of it.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Not anymore

          9  but it used to be.

         10                 MR. TISCH: But it is not controlled.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Right. But it

         12  is the same agency.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Can we please

         14  get back to cigarettes?

         15                 MR. TISCH: Okay. Well, what I am

         16  saying is one of our big problems, and Mr. Lipsky

         17  alluded to it, is taking enforcement of this and

         18  putting it in the one Department of the City that is

         19  the least competent, the most venal. It is a

         20  political operation, it is never an attempt to do

         21  justice. It is an attempt to get publicity, to put

         22  names in the papers and to go on to bigger and

         23  better jobs.

         24                 Alleviated in the Health Department,

         25  there is incidently, and I can't remember the name
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          2  of it, another City agency that is charged with

          3  holding hearings. It is not that the Department is

          4  the judge and the jury, it is that the prosecutor,

          5  the judge, the jury and the hangman. When I was with

          6  the Department of Consumer Affairs we had a man who

          7  worked there, a lawyer, a former lawyer, by the name

          8  of Leo Pollack. Leo was in charge of trade waste. He

          9  took the applications, issued the licenses, held the

         10  hearings and revoked the licenses. Leo was indicted,

         11  Leo stole hundreds of thousands of dollars, because

         12  there has to be a checks and balances and there is

         13  none here. If the Department is unfair to Pathmark,

         14  Pathmark has the money and the attorneys to appeal

         15  further to an Article 78 proceeding. I suspect that

         16  not one member of the Small Business Congress has

         17  the funds, capability or the knowledge to do an

         18  Article 78. They are bound by whatever penalty the

         19  Department wants to give, and there are no

         20  guidelines. And the guidelines that this

         21  Commissioner has given publicly and his staff is

         22  ludicrous. The Department is not bound by the

         23  information law, the Department is not bound by the

         24  Fair Credibility Act.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Mr. Tisch, I
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          2  am going to have to ask you really to sum up because

          3  I really have to move along here.

          4                 MR. TISCH: That was my summation and

          5  I thank you for the time and I thank you for your

          6  patience.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: I thank you.

          8                 Louis Duplan, from Manhattan Borough

          9  President Virginia Fields' office.

         10                 MR. DUPLAN: Good afternoon, Madam

         11  Chair, and distinguished members of the Committee.

         12  My name is Louis Duplan, I am the Policy Analyst for

         13  the Manhattan Borough President's Office C. Virginia

         14  Fields. On her behalf, I would like to thank you for

         15  allowing me the opportunity to testify in support of

         16  Intro. 468-A.

         17                 The Manhattan Borough President

         18  welcomes the opportunity to testify on this

         19  important legislation that affects the health and

         20  welfare of the New York City's youth. Since her days

         21  on the City Council, the Borough President has been

         22  a strong supporter of efforts to prevent minors from

         23  being able to purchase tobacco products.

         24                 This proposal amends the

         25  administrative code of the City by greatly
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          2  increasing penalties for the sale of tobacco to

          3  minors, presents a vital step in this process.

          4                 The Borough President is especially

          5  concerned because Manhattan has been shown to be the

          6  borough, where minors have the easiest time to

          7  purchasing tobacco products.

          8                 As investigators have repeatedly

          9  found, too many retailers neglect to request

         10  identification when a minor buys cigarettes.

         11                 This change to the City's

         12  anti-tobacco law, which will rid the code of the

         13  loopholes, stiffen the fines that retailers face as

         14  well as increase the ability to revoke the

         15  violators' license to sell tobacco and shift

         16  enforcement from the Department of Finance to the

         17  more aggressive Department of Consumer Affairs, will

         18  be a great step in keeping cigarettes away from many

         19  of our youth and, consequently, helping to prevent

         20  future health implications.

         21                 If we are serious about protecting

         22  our youth from the dangers of tobacco, then we must

         23  enact this law to let retailers know that if they

         24  continue to sell to minors, there will be a steep

         25  price to pay, in fines and in the loss of their
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          2  license to sell tobacco products.

          3                 The Borough President is hopeful that

          4  this legislation will be enacted and that, once

          5  enacted, we fulfill our further obligation - to

          6  ensure it is enforced.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Thank you, and

          9  thank the Borough President.

         10                 I would like to call Jennifer Taub,

         11  Dr. Ann Merlino, Dr. Neal Schluger and Joe Cherner.

         12                 DR. MERLINO: Good afternoon. My name

         13  is Dr. Ann Merlino. I am a volunteer for the

         14  American Cancer Society and serve as Chairperson of

         15  the Board of Directors of the Staten Island area

         16  office of ACS.

         17                 It is quite appropriate that I have

         18  been given this opportunity to address you as a

         19  representative of the

         20  American Cancer Society, for tomorrow marks our 23rd

         21  annual Great American Smokeout. On that day we

         22  encourage smokers to quit, and we impress upon the

         23  American public the terrible toll we pay in tobacco

         24  in terms of our economy, and worse, disease and

         25  death.
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          2                 However, today I am here to address

          3  our concerns, yours and mine, for the alarming

          4  statistics for underage smokers.

          5                 We have already heard that more than

          6  two-thirds of our high school students have tried

          7  smoking and more than one-third are current smokers.

          8                 The tobacco industry knows that it

          9  must do everything within its power to create

         10  another generation of addicted smokers to replace

         11  the 400,000 Americans who die every year from

         12  smoking-related causes.

         13                 We must stop the trend of teen

         14  smoking addiction and death. The American Cancer

         15  Society wholeheartedly endorses Intro. 468-A.

         16                 We believe that the small business

         17  men and women are good people, and would otherwise

         18  never break the law. However, they are contributing

         19  to a serious health epidemic, and we will not allow

         20  our children to be their victims.

         21                 The proposed legislation will get the

         22  message across that New York City will not tolerate

         23  the selling of cigarettes to teenagers.

         24                 It is obvious that more stringent

         25  measures are needed for the 35 percent of tobacco
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          2  retailers in New York City who still sell cigarettes

          3  to teenagers. However, we would also like to make it

          4  clear that the American Cancer Society will not rest

          5  until compliance is 100 percent. Even 99 percent is

          6  not good enough.

          7                 In our view, tobacco retailers have

          8  no need to worry about the provisions of the bill.

          9  It is simple. Follow the law and you don't get

         10  penalized. Break the law and pay the consequences.

         11  We praise the City Council for the measures they

         12  have taken in the past to block the tobacco industry

         13  from luring our children into a deadly cycle of

         14  addiction and disease.

         15                 The funds that the City has committed

         16  this year to tobacco controlled I promise you will

         17  save lives.

         18                 I would be remiss in not mentioning

         19  the historic opportunity that has been presented to

         20  all tobacco control advocates statewide and

         21  nationwide. Very soon millions of dollars will begin

         22  to pour into our state from the multi-billion dollar

         23  settlement with the tobacco industry, unfortunately

         24  this is blood money. It was awarded for the recovery

         25  of the billions spent in our state each year to
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          2  treat people who fall ill as a result of smoking.

          3                 Teen smoking is such an important

          4  health issue that the American Cancer Society is

          5  dedicating tomorrows Great American Smokeout to

          6  solicit support from the Public, the State Senate

          7  and Governor Pataki, for a statewide anti-smoking

          8  program to be funded by 20 percent of the tobacco

          9  settlement.

         10                 This measure, in combination with

         11  Intro. 468-A would have a dramatic impact in teen

         12  smoking in New York City. On behalf of the American

         13  Cancer Society, I thank the City for all that it has

         14  done for tobacco control. I thank you especially for

         15  the legislation being considered today and urge your

         16  support of it.

         17                 It will be a significant battle won

         18  in our ongoing fight to save lives.

         19                 Thank you, ladies and gentlemen, for

         20  your consideration of my testimony.

         21                 DR. SCHLUGER: Thank you, Madam Chair.

         22                 My name is Neal Schluger. I am the

         23  Chairman of the Governmental and Legislative Affairs

         24  Committee of the American Lung Association of New

         25  York, and I am here to express ALA's strong support
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          2  for Intro. 468. There can be no issue of greater

          3  importance for those who are concerned about the

          4  well-being of New Yorkers in protecting the health

          5  of children in the City.

          6                 This is particularly true in regards

          7  to tobacco-related illness. Figures released just

          8  two weeks ago by the Centers for Disease Control and

          9  Prevention indicate that tobacco use among those

         10  under 18 years of age has increased in the past

         11  several years.

         12                 This increase signals to us that our

         13  current measures of protection for children are not

         14  strong enough to resist both the sophisticated

         15  marketing strategy of cigarette manufacturers and

         16  the complicity of those who sell cigarettes to

         17  children. More must be done.

         18                 It is generally accepted that if a

         19  person does not begin smoking before the age of 18,

         20  it is unlikely that lifelong tobacco addiction will

         21  occur. Therefore, it is critical that we provide the

         22  strongest possible protection for these young

         23  people. The toll of tobacco-related illness is

         24  enormous and has been well-demonstrated, enormously

         25  expensive. Emphysema, chronic obstructive pulmonary
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          2  disease and lung cancer affects tens of thousands of

          3  New Yorkers. More Americans die of lung cancer than

          4  of any other form of cancer. More women die of lung

          5  cancer than of breast cancer. To prevent these

          6  preventable illnesses from affecting future

          7  generations of New Yorkers, greater protection is

          8  needed and greater sanctions are required to

          9  discourage the sale of cigarettes to impressionable

         10  young people who are manipulated by the sadly

         11  promotional schemes of tobacco companies.

         12                 We cannot let the recent tobacco

         13  settlement lull us into a false sense of security

         14  about the threats posed by the aggressive efforts of

         15  cigarette manufacturers to sell their products to

         16  our children. Their efforts will succeed only if

         17  retailers with direct access to the youngsters in

         18  this City are allowed to sell cigarettes without

         19  fear of serious penalty.

         20                 Current penalties are obviously not

         21  strong enough to discourage the sale of

         22  tobacco-related products to minors.

         23                 It is important to note that Intro.

         24  468 will penalize only those engaged in conduct

         25  which is already illegal.
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          2                 For these reasons, the American Lung

          3  Association of New York strongly urges the City

          4  Council to enact the measure before it.

          5                 Thank you very much for your

          6  attention.

          7                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Madam Chair,

          8  and members of the Council, I thank you for this

          9  opportunity to listen to me.

         10                 I was a smoker and in result of

         11  smoking one pack a day, this is what happened to me,

         12  I wound up losing my voice box. I am really lucky

         13  that they have a machine that I can communicate a

         14  little bit, even though people look at me and say

         15  look at the robot over there. Well, I am not a

         16  robot, I am a human being and I come a long way.

         17  There are other colleagues of mine that are not able

         18  to do as well as I am because they are worse than I

         19  was, it was all due to cigarettes. I ask this

         20  Council to please consider passing this legislation.

         21  It is important. I go by schools, I go to elementary

         22  schools, I do everything in my power to educate the

         23  young, to tell them what cigarettes can do to a

         24  human being, and I beg of you to please look at me

         25  really good, because you are looking at the real
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          2  thing. This is not a piece of paper that you are

          3  looking at. You are looking at a body that has

          4  suffered.

          5                 I was in the hospital for 47 days and

          6  the first operation was $10,000. If we can save that

          7  $10,000 by educating and going after the store

          8  owners that do think that that dollar is more

          9  important for them to survive than it is for our

         10  children, they are wrong, because they would not

         11  like it to happen to them if it was their family,

         12  teenagers.

         13                 So, please, I beg of you, look at

         14  what you are looking at as the point, and this is

         15  the true picture. And I say to the store owners,

         16  there is other ways to make an honest living, not

         17  just by selling that cigarette. What about milk and

         18  bread? You get money for that as well. If not, you

         19  probably make more. Give up the cigarettes, we don't

         20  even need them.

         21                 Thank you very much.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Thank you.

         23                 I just want to say that this Council

         24  will definitely pass this legislation very, very

         25  shortly, and I just want to remind everybody that

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            104

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  right now there is legislation in effect that makes

          3  cigarette selling to minors illegal. But I promise

          4  you that definitely legislation will be enacted for

          5  stiffer penalties for people who sell cigarettes.

          6                 MS. TAUB: Good afternoon, Chairperson

          7  Koslowitz, Council members and other distinguished

          8  guests. My name is Jennifer Taub and I am a

          9  volunteer for the American Cancer Society. I am also

         10  a lawyer, a mother and mother-to-be.

         11                 I am here today to urge the Council

         12  to strengthen the law of governing sales of tobacco

         13  products to minors by passing Intro. 468-A in its

         14  strongest form.

         15                 You have heard throughout the day how

         16  alarming the statistics are regarding teen smoking.

         17  As adults continue to get the message, teens are

         18  taking up smoking in record numbers. Do any of us

         19  want to see the battle for our children's health

         20  fought at the cash registers? Do we want to

         21  jeopardize another generation of Americans with the

         22  tobacco industry's greed and lies? Of course not.

         23                 Big tobacco would have us believe

         24  that we as advocates for the tobacco control are

         25  against small business, that is far from the truth.
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          2                 What we do want to see is respect for

          3  and compliance with the law of our city, that our

          4  designs protect our children from the addiction,

          5  disease and death caused by tobacco.

          6                 To believe that most tobacco

          7  retailers in our city want to comply with both the

          8  spirit and the letter of the law, and protect our

          9  youth. It is regrettable that stricter enforcement

         10  and stronger penalties are necessary to get others

         11  who sell cigarettes to underage smokers to comply

         12  with the law.

         13                 I also ask that you not be fooled by

         14  those who argue that when they are caught breaking

         15  the law and selling to teen smokers that the person

         16  whom they sold looked much older.

         17                 I ask you, of any of the children who

         18  you have seen today looked older than 27 years of

         19  age? I don't think so. And that is the law. An ID

         20  must be demanded for each sale to anyone who looks

         21  27 or younger.

         22                 I implore each of you today, let's

         23  not be fooled any longer by big tobacco's lies.

         24                 I know each of you has followed with

         25  interest, as have I, all of the recent publicity
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          2  cataloguing their lies. They even lie about the

          3  millions of dollars they pour into our city and our

          4  state and national capitals to influence our

          5  legislators.

          6                 Philip Morris has been recently made

          7  to pay the largest penalty in our State's history

          8  for lobbying violations, and the chief lobbyist has

          9  been banned from Albany for three years.

         10                 Only last month Philip Morris

         11  confessed to their decades of lies by admitting that

         12  cigarettes are addictive and deadly.

         13                 As a New York City parent, I want to

         14  see my children grow up in a City that shows respect

         15  for the law and for the health of my children.

         16                 I thank you today for introducing

         17  this bill and for all of the other measures you have

         18  taken to protect the health of New Yorkers.

         19                 I hope you will pass Intro. 468-A

         20  into law swiftly.

         21                 Thank you for listening to my

         22  testimony.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Thank you.

         24                 MR. CHERNOW: My name is Joe Chernow.

         25  I am President for the Smoke-Free Educational
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          2  Services. For the second time I would like to add

          3  our support to the law and congratulate the City

          4  Council for the work that you have done.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Thank you very

          6  much.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 MS. NEELEY: You called me earlier but

          9  everyone else went ahead.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Your name?

         11                 MS. NEELEY: Terry Neeley.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Okay.

         13                 MS. NEELEY: I want to thank you for

         14  having the opportunity to come before you.

         15                 My name is Terry Neeley, and I also

         16  live in Queens. I have two children, ages nine and

         17  13, and they are both boys and they both have

         18  asthma. They suffer severely from asthma. And asthma

         19  can be triggered by smoke. But cigarette smoke is an

         20  irritant. The smokers are inhaling filtered smoke by

         21  choice and the public is forced to inhale their

         22  unfiltered secondhand smoke.

         23                 I am concerned about peer pressure.

         24  There are no positive affects from smoking. More

         25  reform is needed to protect our young people in the
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          2  environment as a whole, not just for asthmatics but

          3  for everyone, so I urging you to pass this

          4  legislation. Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Thank you.

          6                 With that, this meeting is adjourned.

          7                 (Hearing concluded at 5:10 p.m.)
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          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 17th day of November 1999.
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          2             C E R T I F I C A T I O N

          3
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          5

          6

          7

          8

          9            I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified Shorthand

         10  Reporter and a Notary Public in and for the State of

         11  New York, do hereby certify the aforesaid to be a

         12  true and accurate copy of the transcription of the

         13  audio tapes of this hearing.
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